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although he was no longer a practicing Quaker, to see that I got to a Quaker college.
But he was unintere lege anywhererjMth j jferes»
admitted to college borrowed the money fro six per
cent interest,to pursue my four years of college educatidnjAfter talking with.

informaljl\/l;rxvjt'ft;r a little while, she told me of the position/that she hwa to
find someone to fill. It was something so startling that I could not grasp it all
at once. It seems that there was a very wealthy man who lived on an estate outside

authorship
of Chicago, who had become interested in the disputed dMttefifcfraptof the Shakespearcs
pla>ys and was carrying on an investigation of some kind at his estate and that he
wished a college graduate who issh 14t-e"Hturey at- least- had a background
of study in English literature, who would work as an apprentice ,,4 as sort of a
forerunner for this authorship study or investigation, whatever
ikl k If® C

going on, at his estate, was to be young, personable, attractive and a good

was
talker. As time went on, and she/eliciting from me her impressions, I suppose,

AAAAAAAAAA

this millionaire at his Chicago office and let him know that”| was there at
library and he could interview me at that time, if he wished. Instead o

me to his office, he decided to come to the library. He arrived. He was a large
man, bearded, which was very unusual in those days, not toOwell dressed, but with
am y dashingjimperious manner. He wasted no time” he didn*t wish to talk to me
at the library but at once invited me to go with him to his estate at Geneva,
Illinoi 5 and Sgend the night, d was a bijt takenuhac]ﬂ}because in my youth and
innocence, this kind of thing seemed a bit startling to me. But he was the kind
of man who did not take no for an answer. His/car, with chauffeur, was waiting
outside and I proceeded with him to the Chicago NorthwesternAstation aira we took
a train for Geneva, Illinois. He talked about everything under the sun except the-
possibly forthcoming position, until we g)'ant-) the train and sat down. Then after

a very few momentsy he turned to me, sitting next to the window, and shouted,
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"WHAT DO YOU KNOW?2”

I was realizing by this time that I a demure little nobody
to him. :\)'ID had done no talking whatsoever»for he had kept up a constant stream
of conversation. [ was dressed in a grey faille dress with a white peter nan
collar. My hair was unpermanented and very simply dressed, I wore the simplest
kind of hat anyone could wear in those days. Although I had had a reputation for
volubility in college, I certainly was anything but that in the presence of this
awesome person, about whom I had upgto that mometgzmot formed any very favorable
opinion. So when he thundered at me,”well,what do you know?”” ~ !~ ipa>p>a as
far away from him against the window as possible, and looked at him quizzically
out of my half turned héad and said, in a firm but low tone, “that remains, Sir,
for you to find out”. My answer apparently pleased him,for he burst forth in a
loud guffaw which could be heard all over the car. "A fter that the restraint between
us somewhat eased and the rest of the short journey was passed in pleasant
conversajiibn by his narrating to me in a more or less calm and restrained manner,
that  womrfn, Elizabeth W ells Gallcl)lp, had discovered a cipher which proved that
Francis Bacon had written Shakespeare. He, George Eahiin», Colonel by

Of A V=% / 046V
courtesy of the Governor o'f Illinois” had decided that this was a cause which

had been unjustly frowned upon by academic circles and that he, Goerge cl

who was quite accustomed to getting his way in thA “orld” in whatever pursuit he
chose to undertake, was determined that he would force the academic world to

accept Mrs. Julalljfps cipher and thus he, George , would become known to
posterity as the man who proved the real authorship of Shakespeare” I realize”

that I am this narration to my interpretation jtthioh* 1 read inte/his "TF

words. My interpretation, however, has-been- proved.by events in the years following.
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When we arrived at the railroad station at Geneva, Illinois,

we were met by a limousine “nd driver who drove us the short—
mile or mile and a half to Riverbank, the three hundred acre
estate of this man, which spread along two sides of the Lincoln
Highway, between Geneva and Auror , Illinois. On one side of

the highway, there was a high stonejwall with impre s’ve gates.

He told me that that side of the property was cut Xe by the

Fox River and th t nis own residence, swimming pool, stables,
etc.**Jwere in that part of the estate. Our car, however, turned
into the p*rt of the estate which was n the opposite side,, of

the highway, .L .wsuB. t AS haLrlllgsotflllXe/\ mediurnesi zed house
kno n as ”The Lodge”,"to meet Mrs. Bllggyba’h- Wefrits Gall*pis There
she and her wertSM sister, Miss Kate "ells, resided nd~&here they
had all of their aoooufoe*pfiyon/ts to prove their eertetin claim that
Francis Bacon was the author of the Shakespeare plays "nd sonnets.
This lodge was staged , of course, with servants and it s there
th "t I Mms to spend the night in a guest room. When we arrived

at the dinner table, after 1 had been very briefly intro-
duced to Mrs. Gallgp’s work, I met tire(:) young men“who were plursuing ”n
occupations of some sort or another on the estate and who were not
living in the Lodge, but who took their meals there. Mrs. Gall/p
presided at the head of the table. She was an elderly woman of

o” femoly*aristocratic appe rance and her varied conversation was

of tr vel and residences .bro d, her stays with various distinguisned
families, who believ‘ﬁed in'h::i:X< causeyand whCNLhad financed her over
periods of years. But I could not help but deduce from this con-
vers tion and some following ones, th~t Mrs. Gallgp h dL(/i)\Velt only

among those who agreed with her premise nd that she had,little
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personal contact with the viewpoint of those who did not believe
in the non”-Shakespeare authorship of Shakespeare.

Before I returned to the city the next day, I had had two
or three hours of consultation with Mrs. Gall(Ho and gathered some
idea of what was facing me. There was a plan-fefobtaining/iertaln
number of girls or young women of considerable native Intelligence,
not necessarily college graduates, who would become students under
Mrs. Gall/p and master her cipherwf£ii«®a”¢f Bacon’s authorship of
the plays and by proceeding over the same ground she had covered,
prove that her decipherments were correct. Then after that, they
would go on to other portions of tiu cipher from the plays
and other works of the Elizabeti@»1 era, "because Mrs. Gallydpfe

researches had led her into the claim that Bacon had authored many

other distinguished works of the Elizabeti{E:1 age in addition to
those of Shakespeare wasl7*of course””uring my short visit there,
I"® Mi**SvertMart of tlie estate which was on the other side of the

Lincoln Highway and Jxr which the Fox River ran. 1 saw the Roman
swimming pool which Colonel FabWifr. tod built in the edge of the

river (although the pool itself was fed by spring w ter, not river
water)] efee bridge he had persuaded the state of [llinois to permit
him to build acToss the Fox River, a fight which he told me “r
fcragliing”’Lyy h~d gone on for years becuase the Fox River was

theoretically a navigable stream and it had taken him, even with

his no mean powers « T persuasion, some years to convince the state

engineers of Illinois that it was not a navigable river andAtherefore.
he could build the bridge. On the land on the opposite side of

the Fox River from the villa, his own residence, he had erected a

Dutch windmill which he had bought in Holland and had removed,its

eniir*yto his estate and had it reconstructed there. The villa
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itself was a rather small house and quite informal in appearance.
It was obvious to me, even on this initial visit, th t Colonel'

tua. r
Fabitan h°d a passion for which swung Z on supports.rather

or drewingg\mom, in the Villa®was furnished mostly with divans and
chairs which swung on huge chains from the high beamed ceiling.

The beds in his and Mrs. Fabian’s quarters”™ were also swung on chains
in the center of large rooms. The grounds outside the villa on the
hillside, with enormous trees, had many hammocks swung around

a fireplace as large as a room, built like a pool, low in the ground.

And besides the hammocks and N g frour the orfnrm(Mift
t-BAftfy nn ch-i there was a 1 rge wicker or reed arm” chair which
swung on chains, uLAjfll I"'Wmiullli hi.,j 1l or thirty feet in
%%I?n@’is@l?@.%@orrmouu?tree. This’ came to be known as “the hell
chair”. In it, Colonel Fab®An sat and swung back and forth with his

habit of chain-cigarette smoking and with a tendency of poking the
enormous fire and refueling even on summer evenings, because he con-
sidered this huge fire a means of keeping away mosquitos.

And so evening after evening he sat there in the hell chair, with
anyone he could gather around, either guests from the city or from
somewhat away or » few of us on the est<xtej nd if anything dis-
pleased him, he would stand the offending person* up before
the hell chair and literally give hell. Thus” the name* JUt was

never spoken of in any other way.

As the summer progressed and I had mastered the details of

i
Mrs. G 1l/p's cipher system, Colonel F&Utf®n began to invite as guests
to the est*3te””“various Profe&ors from ~11 over the country, who were

to come to see and be conquered. My job was a kind of public relationis
and lecturer type of job, to introduce Mrs. Gallop’s material which
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could be thrown on g screen and placed for viewing by these visiters#
! * A L« , 4 fl 1

and alsoito work wi them to

M A

"fee
a

These Professors, in turn, were polite, uncommenting or down-
eEwe.
right challenging, if not to say hostile. This latter” was “e*of the

gre”t John M Manl/gy*¢ of the Univ ity of Chic go. He even tried
skeptical

some tests of his own devising on Mrs. G I1l/p nd w s nd

scoffing from then on$> gut more of this later.

At any rate, the summer passed delightfully”*t w s a very
beautiful est te, in a beautiful part of the country nd there were
many glarorous and exciting guests whoml met csually or for longer
periods. There w-s“a young m”n e there in a scientific c¢ pacity”
who we-e very happy to have the companionship of young women. mfctté We
swam in the Roman swimming pool, we bicycled over the country ro ds,
we drove occasionally in the roaring StutC Bearcat” belonging to a

young bachelor engineer” pl-ana®

rtf'—

I'emlridc-mo, 1 a "Colonel Ihbtfép had many other ctivitieS

on the estate beyond his interest in Mrs. callAlf) nd her Fr- ncis
Bacon cipher dealing with Shakespeare» /?r example, under the direction

of*Mr* Wallace S”bin”df Harvard University, Colonel Fa was build-

ing on his est te a labors tory, the first I believe” in the
United States” outside of Harvard’s, for the testing of acoustics
and acoustical properties. This young engineer I mentioned, by the
namejj*Eisenhower, was ) )
employed full time to go ahead with
such Instructions as Dr. m'fallace Sabin”Left from time to time after

his visits while the sound labor- tory was being constructed there

That summer also, Colonel FabVtln brought Dr. Paul Sabinka younger

relative of Dr. iall*ce Sabin” with his wife and family to Geneva”
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to be the real operating brain of the experiments to be continued
after completion of the sound labor tory. The Sabinas lived in the
vill ge of Geneva and not on the estate.

The hand someeemQwELa”"-Eu3X) * ay “ppo.arl-ng young mafp]tC whom [ |
had met at dinner on the first night when I was at Riverbank on e

before coming there to live, was employed as a Geneticist. Colonel

F b Mtn had established a greenhouse andfadjoining labor tory”~for the

conduct of experiments in the field of Genetics. This dark”young man”
1le?

experimented with the fruit fly, Drosophila rifjphega- and witn

plants, testing the Mendelian lawjof heredity. There was a windmill

which was in the center of the laboratory where this young man worked”
ya. ?

Colonel Fabien h-d constructed”sort of -e*studio on the second floor

of this windmill house and that was where the young man lived. [ saw

him always” of at meal times and on off hours when all of the

young people on the place were swimming, bicycling, riding,ate.

A fter Colonel Fab”On hired me, he lost no time in finding
young girl apprentices to study the techniques of Mrs. GallOn’s
cipher, o corroberating” what she had already don” and after-
Wrds to attempt to bring about © decipherments of fresh material
from the Elizabethan books. By the end of th”it summer, there was
a group of possibly Tg. ten young people.

Also, during that summer, Colonel Fab|an established still
another experimental laboratory, that of chemistry. He hired to
become the leader™, of that activity” a young woman graduate
of the University of Chicago.

Another activKy on the estate, which was not one of the

Colonel’s interests, but o'i"<irs. Fab”ékn’s, was grnupjr»f prize

cattle. Mrs. 'Rabl&n was an anlma'Sqxjver and had launched a herd of
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prize winning cattle. I recall that one of the purchasers, msde by

the Fabian's /or her herd, during the time tW t I was
*

A&
estate, wa/ a bull for which they had paid thirty th(/i
, in O clum*
[ .beliey"/IJpc”-"nd*"*ThJ, name of this bull was v—/-tat
ZtfXuy'Scu " bronze a»*was

was pit J to be seen in the Chicago Art Museum.
p . —This and otfyer tabulons-storiés came more or less gradually to
my attention during that first summer at Riverbank. !’From the first I
NSitva v <i il

had been struck with Colonel w m i xress which he invariab:n];
wore while away from his AC|hCi)i?'§OT office. It was a kind of @
twentieth century tthing, what one might mistake at.first
appearance as # Ti0e® an original riding costume”Colonel Fabien

5 conversation, as startling

profane,"he bellowed at
people. He gave orders on every phase of liV¢ > even dictating what
sort of clothes I should wear and where I should buy them, Ming
meu SOMeEW Al by this because what resulted wasgthat I spent more for
my clothes th”n I could afford. But if I “raised my voice, and com-
plained about this, he always reminded me to hush, that he was
quite sure that the label of Marshall Field in my clothing
meant a great deal more to me than the fact that to go into
debt to buy themT/TFMagnanimous”millionaire that he was, indulging
his personal whims of scientific and literary pursuits on his estate,
he was downright niggardly in some other aspects. For example, in
travelling into Chicago, to his offices there, he wore disreputable
looking clothes,Aalways strip%d trousers and formal morning dress.
His shirts, however, “always frayed as to the cuffs. On one occasion

th~t summer, [ recall, that he went back and forth to Chicago for

days, with a triangular snag very prominently in the front of his
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trousers. Ever® we underlings”® commented on this and protested aad"
Colonel Fabien would only laugh. Ilowover, after em & -ii“e,

seoretary—"the' Chicago office” managed to get him To change e-tothing

?7k'vkK 4-0
in the affXcd ttor-e-mll ujjrilIP tfeTJm . puT on a somewhat
better for some business function” weuld send the&* others
11 S _Si. <V
tp the cleaner., mr”.V & T”m away and he never

But many, many times, I have seen him, riding from

in
Chicago the dining car, end seat, where he sat facing the entire
remainder of the carjand j>- lighting a cigarette, elTa'ln
MuuliJi' LN would take wfe

mrtch and burn the frayed thread”
from the edge of his cuffs protruding below the sleeve of his coat.
Other peculiarities that became evident to me, shortly after arriving,
was his gre t desire to appear as a knowledgable person in the fields
of science and learning which he chose to establish on his own _lace.
I learned almost with a shock, thtt he actually had no education him-
self, although he had come from the distinguished blueblood
of Boston and his father wits the he d of the liss Fabjfen gl;n-'porntl nij”"»
the 1 rgest cotton goods corporation in the world at that time"p that.—
Mfe, George, L4 run away from home when 2 idy and h5d grown up, I
believe, on the lumber docks in Chicago, ofter being dis-
inherited as a black sheep by his family. Later he h d gone as a
young man into the lumber legions of the north and had made quite a
reput tion for himself as a forceful person who would go f-r in this
world. Thetherjfrom sense of humor or a desire for revenge, when he
was nineteen he went to St. Louis and obtained a job s a salesman with
the St. Louis office of the Bliss Fab”4n Cotton Goods Corporation.
He m de ' bargain with the urrrger of that office” th t he was never
to be known by name”but th t the reports of his sales would go into

the Boston home office simply as the accomplishments of “:ir. P
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At the end of two yers, he had made such amazing record of sales,

th¢t the Senior Fabt&n in Boston demanded that the St. Louis m nager

tring this remarkable young to the home office. This

meeting took pl-ce” not long after that. And as the story went, I
learned this from one of the officials

in the Chicago branch of the firm at that tim”*, there -

very dramatic and erﬁ)t(“tiotional reunion between father and son. To

make a quick ending to this story, I will st te briefly”,

f ther died two ye”rs later, the young man not only inherited millions

in actual money but he was made, under the terms of his father® will,

the head of the Chicago office which was the second largest office of

the corporation In the meantime, ,the young man h?d married the
daughter of gjJ army o fficer, name was Nell*Wright . H ilt was
~ mf = o m " a- v

\after this that he established the estate, Riverbank, at Geneva,
I[llinois and began developing his hobbies. The fact that he had no
education, I .ww, » ga,ve him the determination to
accomplish as much as "G»*-rfa great deal aad more advanced

education could have done. This I believe to be the reason for

establishing the various scientific laboratories there. It
a
also the reason, I believe” that h* flurirltmhiain»—ha no native
ow1 "vu
analytical ability*»— -W hie laete formal education, he succttmbed

to the startling arguments of the Baconian authiorship of Shakespeare
and had been persuaded by friends of Mrs. Galipr *Sy fin “hwr*who were
themselves blueblood families that here was a cipher system
which was really scientific and would prove to the world that Francis
Bacon wrote Shakespeare. Hencejy he had undertaken to bring Mrs.

Gallop nd her sister to Riverbank and conduct this pursuit of con-

verting the academic world to the ardfert belief of Mrs. Gallop
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and by this time of himself O."

It is easy to see, therefore, why when he brought scientists and
literature Professors to the estate to see, hear and be impressed, that
he would himself, personally, take them on a conducted tour of the
estate; proudly showing them what he had there and with a kind of beat-*

n

the-chest manner, say to them, one and a,ll, "see, here I am, a man

“evem without a high school education” I ha$ built up here an insti-*
tution in these sciences and arts whi-y, will rival the universities'!.
After 1 arrived at Riverbank, he used/alnn5st invariably fé"]take me on
these dri\(gs around the estate.saad, thus atte'mpting to develop in me a
kind ofgl t for public relations”™ In spots where he might fumble or
falter, I cane to believe, he expected me to fill in with statements or
conversation which would not only arouse confidence but present a
reaffirmation of the statements that Fab“fca himself was making. I
became very much impressed with Colonel Fab”ftn’s capacity to sound”
to everyone except a real scientist or expert in a given field"like
an expert himself. I never saw him read anything beyond a newspaper
headline. But he kept people about him all the time, talking. He
had an bsolutely verbamemory and a photographic eye

Il hatever anyone said to him, technical or not, he could repeat in
a-imoo-t- a parrot-like fashion. _Thus, to the unw”ary, he appea]redllike
someone who knew”what he wasdBing”"yjAs time went on, the darlg/lfjogj(oturllqg
man, who was in charge of the genetics experiments, was found to be a
gifted person in the realm OH@M. Soxﬁé was pressgd into
service by Colonel Fab%<’n, who got some idea that, by enl rgiig the
type forms'n the Elizabethan books, the differences which Mrs.

Gallop claimed were there would show up and woul’d be very useful in

experiments'-provth Mrs. Gallop s readings' and—.*in demonstration would

IG7TX

convince whoe(Colonel Fabtben was quite sure would

sooner or later succgub to his great salesmanship and endorse Mrs,
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O VOUIU
Gallop’s work. This order on the part of Colonel Fabkn)* the

young man to go into this s*4be of affirmation of Mrs®. Galop’s work,

t/*— "1
w him and me together a very great deal, of social hours.

Name was filliam F. Friedman, and we were married within tafi year.

This young man was the antithesis of Colonel FabXen, 4ie was gentle,

consideratej polite, very handsome, always immaculately dressed,
whether it was tennis dress, laboratory costume or social affairs,
dinner dress, whatever. As we were thrown together so much in our
examination and propagandizin as indeed Colonel FalrWn forced upon

us, of Mrs; Gallpps cipher/we had many quiet talks ourselves. Even
that first summer, we began to wonder about the authenticity of

Mrs. Gallop’s ”solution” It was convincing and indubi-&f_}*—ly true that
Francis Bacon had invented a really scientific and workable and provable
cipher system; it could quite obviously be applied as an explanation,

as Mrs. Gall>Jp claimed, for the use of two different forms of type which
appeared in all Elizabethan books; it could certainly do all the things
that Francis Bacon had claimed for it in his own description of his
invention in “the advancement of learning”. However, the applic tion
of this cipher to the type forms in the Elizabethan books” required so
much personal judgement, so much variation, th? t we “ven then began to
doubt* »ig- yp the superficial arguments for Mrs. Gallop’s
cipher being accurate and authentic® were very convincing»4*-doo

When the two of us or either of us alone attempted to raise any question
with Colonel Fah||tn, we were shouted down} we were not there to question
but to follow his le d and to convince the academic world of the

authenticity of the work.
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However, it m s not long until new inter di er ted some of

Colonel Fabien’s ttention. Being n wno loved power, he h d

acquired "™ cert in amount of influence in Cshington, Along witx* Li.

.inu  “islities in educ ti n, he h (“either ¢ n tural gift or ....
$ /iio vt/
cquir-ed "i-t, tr ordinary caps city for ~eeiig 1i;ito the fu uie,

s n ing ieveljp ents thst othersﬁ/even those t t*e hub of ¢* Wueel/

did not Tnus it ws*that he sensed e rly in the winter of 1916 d

th t this country w goi g to be wr. His 'nterest 1
' B cot ctf z
cipher h d led i1 to A what little fragment ry owled, e there

in those days
Ur>s ~crncernin, m ilit r, ciphers* in short, h s wwr coming fo tne

Usga. n iS;C*_A knew th*t the US .9 no ¢p city Lr tever to detl
fith the secret communie*tio?$ of n enemy, even in p.'ce ti e, let

lone in W<r.kH}E ther fore* began to org nize and e. t blish a staff
who could e over these duties of re"ding enemy secret communicatiors,
if and when r would be decl red. He convinced ' shi ton th t the

¢ eriment would be much too long in establishing such n org ni a uionj
th t he, George Fabian, could ith his own personal ability nd one”
establish n org nization to do this work on his estate. Hence” it

c me bout that even before the United States h; d actually decl red
w?r, Colonel Fab”n had a tiny nucleus of operating staff prepared to

go head with this plarZ which he had ”sold” to I shington

it was_ that my hu band ad I found ourselves no 10nger‘7 a Gen tiglst
- lexMrtAlf , AAATY AL '

and a”English lite* ture student"but the heaag of thissAste iﬁf'c;%‘%’v
"K Tty -

Oolonel Fab'tfen began t once to hsve us traim@ the’staif wiich nad

been working with “rs. Gallcypy the-tiny nd also to employ
others”™ including stenogr nhers and transi tors. He had oper ting at
Riverbank, therefore, pr ctically a going concern hen decl®°r tion of
7r fas fas==ees m*de and ashington beg n to send us *terial which

e solved nd returned to Tas t thet time in the United
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States, there were possibly thr e or at most four persons tfho knew

th® meaning of the word OF.tihm term” codes and ciphers. They were

— : . cryptographic . .
army o fficers who nad dealt with communications in

their profession 1 careers. Among these” wer® Major Joseph O.

Mauborgne, who had s far back as 1912 solved the Playfair cipher,
which was the srfflcial British A rmy ciphenLrUaotf that ftjjne. He was the

«COX (-0-4 A
first ever to solve it® There was also Parker*"lj”who had written

a small booklet going a short fay into the solution of general ciphers
andl\?\?ipher systems. This booklet was called tho Blemohtft-

u
and was used for instruction at the”school”a a't Leavenworth,

Kansas. A third 'mmy officer was Major Frank Moorman, who bee me the

head of the code and cipher branch 9t Gener- 1 He dquarters in France

nd w’gls Liere throughout the war. The two young officers, Mauborgne
. (SV

andy were both brought to Riveibank by Colonel FabWn, and from

that brief meeting to thia the present time, we are still friends

and “admirers» o oh—etheT” It was obvious that with the exception of
the twelve page pamphlet describing Major Mauborgne’s achievement on

the Playfair cipher, and the thirty page booklet produced by Major Hitb

for use at Leavenworth, there was nothing in the English language whicV*

could be considered a book of instruction of any nature whttsoever® ulJe

therefore became the studauts®the te chers™and
9 A <t <
<\the workers all at onpe” the same tim e””i this enterprise” which
A
Colonel Fabitn h d launched as a gesture for .lashington ag+ into which
'X

we hj’d been forced by the mere physical fact of having been present
. . . . o . ., *¥*he fact
on his est te at the time he conceived this striking idea”sHiié
that we became the leaders, I suppose”indicates that he hfd been ul
impressed with our abilities. fla Vou
Colonal Fatfien brought in two Spanish

transi tors and” of course a German translator, and we set to work, 6ne

of our biggest volumes of work was correspondence between German
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and Mexico. The material was sent to Riverbank usu Ily b, mail but
occasionally something was urgent and was telegraphed in
cipher to Riverbank and we worked on it at top speed and returned the
For eight months, we, this energetic but
sm 11 unit of workers on the Fabien estate,®® Riverbank.zat Geneva,

Illinois, performed all oiphor wenk” code and cipher work™ for the

| | &>
turned up in the course of the work. Particularlyyathis type of
item come from the Post Office Department and the Justice Department.
I recall in one case that I myself worked for Ju,yr* upon a message

Czech
in cipher which turned out to be, when finally mastered, in the

language, and after o Mexaggerated amount of effort by me and others
who did not know the Czech language, had reduced it to something which
secemed logical in that language, it was submitted to a Czech tramslator
and turned out to bg;e;a\]?cve note from a Czech to his girl-
friend during some travels ion—hie po.r-tDuring the fallowing eight
monthsg after Colonel Fabia» launched this unit for the solution of
secret;communications, he made several trips away from home on behalf
of his interests- which in turn were in behalf of the government. On
these trips he always took young Frig_c\l/man wlijth him. J rec\ﬁélcl that?
Colonel Fabian used Mo*”“pa”t with a small handbag”for luggage. My
husband told me that he carried im7rhis han;dbag several changes of
stock, the upstanding type of collar whicayafffected and always wore.
He took no change of suitsJno change of laundry* stating that he
could always haveei’suits cleaned and the laundry laundered over nightZ

ridiculed
wherever he was. He @aaw my young husband who maintained



(17)

his fastidious appearance at all costs, because the young man insisted
upon CFrrying a full suitcase of complete changes of clothing which
would -befit for wh tever duration of the trip/wao being trrken”

Then my husband returned from these trips, he used to tell me with

. f Colonel Fabien’s behavior. I’ve Ire dy
considerable amusement o

fi C 7’ >s
mentioned h4-e* practice of keeping a car and a chauffeur in Chicago
MOL
fulll\tme employee, although Colonel Fabgen by this time w; s only
l o J < *

goings into his Chicago office three s a week. On these

as °

ﬂ‘my husband told me, he would take a tx i in the morning and they rould
start, for example, from the Tlllard Hotel in Washington to the War
Department, on wh t is now known as Constitution Av nue, Qf er some

0.
consult tion there Fab%an would go fith n official, or would be sent

\ S v
by s 1 official perhaps” to som&pl ce - iesg dist nee wy such s,
ML
for exanple, Annapolis. F bien nd Friedman would be disp .tched
t*1.. outliginf nd sometimes f irly distant area in® an o ffici 1" ar
rt euuv - .# 0 fever, F baton’s 1.~ .ariable pr/actice w uld be to
.\_).

It- * the taxi fhich he had hired in the morning and told to w it for
him outside the building on Constitution A venue, to follow the offica-,_\
car. On one occasion when the” taxi returned them to the Till rd |
Hote})wm my hus pd “oted l_pi t Fabren payed a bill of thirty-five

V B»
dolLre, #r said to Fab&ta,nwhy do you do this® Here we were gone all

day and you did not use this taxi for one momen; u}{_iy did you have him
follow you, you certainly didn’t need him. Fabfen said, Yes, I didn’t
need hirn” but who knows, I might have needed him. And yet” the next

morning my husband was made to go forth from the /ill rd Hotul to buy

a morning newspaper upon the street because Colonel Fabien refused to

pay the fancy price, as he called 1it, which was demanded by the



newst*nd in the hotel for morning newspapers. In other words, he
would not pay seven cents, eighty cents, ten cents, for a five cent
newspaper; my husband must walk a block or more away and pay five
cents for a five cent newspaper aad bring it back to Fab&en te the
hotel**Friedman also made some trips to Boston with Colonel Fabften and"
although/staying in a hotel in Boston”“théy were Invariably invited to
dine with the eldest brother of George Fab”“ya, then head of the Bliss
Fabian Corporation.. fbr these occasions, of course, the Boston
family and guestsif any, were always in formal evening dress, even if
there w?s no one except the family present. However, George Fabitan
ivctewt .
was so intnfrt upon preserving his image of the black sheep of the
family, that he not only would refuse to we«r evening clothes to his
brother’s home or the home of other relatives or friends in Boston
to dine, but he refused to let my husband wear evening dress
They occasionaly carried such clothes for appearance in other places,
but Fab'ijpn,s vanity had setip this image of behavior with his family
there
and evening clothes were forbidden in his book - a mode
of conduct which embarrassed young Friedman greatly but he did
not dare transgress Colonel Fag?aun’s orders.<7r1hThis Imperious mode of
conduct of George Fab"yn which was felt by those immedi tely around
him in his entourage but about which nothing could be done by his

“underlings”, was undoubtedly felt s joner or later in Washington.

The Departments of the United States Government finally became im-

A
patient"<r<thay ad4dr~wlth"th*ljgTr*th of 1lnp r y _ *O*
tfr«*£fic 111 -*-crejt__aommilh- out to_ "--smetll town -wo

. - ur™A
- raturn—£yem d-exsrtiaed that 'Colcne 1 Fawn

remove his cipher and code unit in toto to ashington and turn it over

to the government for operation there, “his, Colcnel Fatten not only

refused to do, but wewho performed the work for him“were not even



told about his having been broached by the governement with this plan f

cml5.”the government organized and established a cipher bureau located
in military intelligence in Washington and removsifrom’under
Coloenl Fab|4n’s jurisdiction” the work which had been done on his
estate*and which h d given him such a great thrill and feeling of
personal triumph and po/rer. He was by virtue of being a censor in a
way of any knowledge which came to us and at times I regret to add,a
censor of our personal mail. He became the supreme commander of our

personal lives

(relating life at Riverbank...Tape ;-3)
C*fFor example, my young husband le rned many months later, that he had

been requested by the hr Department for service in this sped.- 1 field
and had been offered a commission. He was wanted for work in this field

°t "eneral Headqu; rters of The emerican Expeditionary Forces in France.
\ -
However, during the time intervening, which was the-be ter rt of X3
_pyClcvt,®»
year, work h d gone hn at Riverbank” Four regul rly commissioned

young -rmy o fficers had come to "ivef, ank for specific nd detailed
J* ec °
training to proceed thereafter to UH) 5 One of the: four"became

a lifelong friend of ours. He stayed at'CHI’E”” 11 during the r nd
Mevtevt

late? -fter the wr, went with Proaia”at- Hoovex to the Pood

distribution Progr- m in Russi nd Eastern :uxope. There, he met a
n

distinguished young wiite Russian noble voman, m rried ner and later

retired
'ent into the foreign Service fur the United States. He as

a full tmbassador and has been living in Nice, France since, editing

Lo ¢ .V mmm> . Gkt-f 1/ k _
nd publishing the ne "Cp"JSCVA It ws for this

mag’zine, thrt my husband did the rese rch iiv the life of Co: a*llova

and discovered what ¢ gre t man
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0 A
had been

I /TrTinany fiel\ds of science, far beyond i (1 © “fhis v s

delved
n less to cryptogr pn®y 't"ksn °f£ the other fields he @a@@ into.
Cx 'mm* ’

9ASAKOTFA had analyzed and determined the method to solve
!
ithout th key,ci hexbs ed u,on xh t is o known s a vigenere ble.

This first method of solution has throughout the lest hundred ye rs of

0
history, in the orld of cryptoanalysis =nd cryjto,r phy, been ,iven t

n\me of ! I , the Germ n who is credited with first A
this /Tk as eocdy
rticul r cipher system, hereas,/T've alwyg rel ted,
done it almost century before* To resume the story of

our life t Riverbank, during the months before ?orld ar I began nd
the first year thereafter, in addition to tr ining these four students,
we ere doing the work for all departments of the governne t which had
to do with coded or ciphered correspondence, Knowing n thing ./bout
< Caynv VL
either ( K | or CASAK at the tim”e, we determined our o. ®m method
toVitk a-ea. ‘r.’k * e . J

of solution ef this type of cipher,which w s very commoénly used between
Lexic ns nd Germans, as Germans carried on correspondence with people
in the United States nd other countries. e niov this meth d now as '
rigwilipp Iphabet “cipher. Ttrt is, letters...one, two, three, four, five,

sixt,of given mess ge are each enciphered by different cipher

]
Iph bet anjd then .tfce cipher alphabets re repeated, sqv”n, eight, *“nine
"TVs $0 MX i /
ten, eleven, twelve.” The messages were, of dourse, in\Spanish, a

which . o
langue g*/’neither my husband nor J had studied but a sufilci& pt amount

of which we quickly grasped .wlJiloh would suffice for the purpose of
deciphering in Spanish, so long as re h-d expert tr nslators/to e”sry
the langu ge into English. Messages were also in Germai” which* ware a
language fam iliar from High School nd College study”to both my husband
and to me

Some f the oddm ts that were s”"nt to us frqm W ashington,were
some from the\Post O ffice\?’nd the Department of Censorship were

likely to be i almost any JLangu ge. I recall one mes”¢ge in partiy‘\ular
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which vii ® postcard.
strange 1"ngua” which T did not recognize” but” he.tween the sm .tiering»
is ge among our stenographers nd students and translators, .we
fragmentary knowledge to piece together this particular
message”— It turned -out to- be entirely i#necénT_  Tn content, it was
,the

tn/Cgcoli l-ingiiHgr 'Hfid myo the lovc-imrrrAgr" of a suitor Tir this

w\TT—---

onn-ntry to his -finneo In hit all our solved material
was returned to Washington and several copies were sent” there were,
of course, in the files in Wshingtonanot only %)iunraizonpleted plain
language mess- ges in whatever langage but the/work sheets were sho”n
in which the method and the keys and the steps of solution were
clearly indicated. Hence, it was, that «fter a while, perhaps about
-Ttec Ter of 1917, the-WarPepartment”-that-this method of wiring or
mailing messages out to a little town west of Chicago nd then waiting
for mreply, by wire or letter, was a matter of inconvenience which
the far Department Lifiutt ib could bear with no longer,,
y~hce” they demanded that Colonel Fabian transpl nt his whole cipher
burecau, bodily, to .ashdmgton and operate directly under the aegis
of the Wr Department.

This was '*"aether- c..Ae/\f the Colonel FabCen
played God and determined what was to be done with our lives. W
workers knew nothing whatsoever of this until Colonel Fat*-ap. had roared
a final NO, emphatically, to the far Department, nd they h &
in just as loud a roarinformed him that they wouldin that c¢ se, set
up their own cipher bu?eau in Washington. And, therefore, we all

were left actually, r" after the time required for the

A . : . .
new,organized cipher bureau in f shington to take our solved messages

and work with oui solutions and keys and get the know-how to go ahe d*
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we were left with no work to do” which was really pertinent to the war
then going on. The Cipher Bureaifin Washington had to be formed» of
course, from people Who had only dabbled in crytography and”only two
of those”Jn”"others wh, knew nothing whatsoever. This was a small
group in the War Department as it was a small group at Riverbank. The
headpf the Cipher Bureau was the great Professor, John M Manley of the
University of Chicago He was com m issionedC aptain*"
Herbe” 0. Yardley» who became so infamoua/illftecl;)vl‘;?llgliion with
the book» THE BIACK (HAVBER who had been K”"ldegraph opmaleA oarthe
telegraph operator in the State Department» was also commissioned and
placed In this bureau. college professor from Hew Yiriok by the name
of*Charles J. Mendelssohn, an expert In Greek and Latin and many modern
languagea, but who )Lew nothing of ciphers and codes- 4L newspaper
editor from a small town somewhere
gathered together for this Cipher Bureau. But as for a aemman man, or
anyono”with any aotual“cnowledge of the subject» there were none among
this personnel of the newly created Cipher Bureau.

Soon, thereafter» the material which had been coming to us from

Washington was no longer forthcoming. Colonel Fabien stillydift not

reveal to my husband that he had been asteed for” xrefz*J»deed, he did not

reveal to any of us” in JhU that we had been asked for

bOuhe--oen&*40 Washington. I%l beginning

|lhlo episode ofmy” Xife--eiHkH»yUiwban” Colonel Pab”sn fer the
pi? =

financial (er of the project at Riverbank. Xn other words, he was

giving the entire effort» paying all expenses» including the salary and

the living quarters and food for all of those of us who>were at Riverbank
/kT/x1fe, i> e
and Uncle Sam was spending not a penny» except the”ost of the transmise .

ox -ef-the infinitesimal no.Vyorthmeiitleml®”--w”, Pof the materlalg sent

to Riverbank, hColonel” who”loved power and had enjoyed to the last
u »\
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de ee”his co . ni over th United tate Government, itwk_
durln thePe onths he h d operated gratis tils acco lishfuljf effort,
nov beg n to feel frustrated because ne still was not holding thi's
hend of nower. Therefore, he developed an idea that he Wolglld?offer
to the Government to tr- in a vast number of officers for overseas
work in code “nd cipher, both crytographlc and
of Ve work, ”ﬁ-:y wol!ld n t necessarily be located t Gener 1 ecad-
quTters of the * erican Expedition ry Forces where enemy ciphers and
codes were solved, but they would be equipped with dej.uate

a>a ! '

E u > u
knowledge to opiwgpte .lift units of command in the field underst ndu'

how communie tions oper ted, what was proper to do nd what was

dangerous to do® nd thus *de co. unie tions tnd of thoir-i

oper tions in the field with the utmost cap city and owledge. fith
.7 * Q LAX 11 e

=

this idea in mind, he again, with his persuasive m nner, assembled ‘-‘U'
a group of approxinr tely eighty officers who were soon thereafter -
slated to go overseas. These officers came to Riverbank and they and

all our staff were housed in the Alurora Hotel ii Aurora, Illinois”

== [O two months, during ear we assiduously
instructed these officers in the science of cry?tology, covering both

ph' ses of cryptography and cryptoanalysis. At the engl»of that time, they
went on their way and our cipher unit, at Riverbank, was gain left
with no official orders or work from Washington.

It was at about this time, that my husband earned that he had"
almost a year before, been offered a commission to go overseas in this
work. He only learned this because ﬂat this time he began to insist

y
th°t he too wished to go overseas™ ”nd demanded that he be allowed to
take exa initions for a commission. 3% make H 1uiTg".Ftury"*shW4Ay/\%x€

did succeed in gaining a commission and left for France ing”""KtaahM t-ye=

of 1918
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He proceeded at once to GHQ of the AEF and went to work in the unitg

under the commaid of Colonel Frank Moorman. Cola@dl Moorman had been

placed in command of this unit because he was a Single Corps officer]

all such work at that time was under the Single Corps of the Army, and

Moorman had been one of that less-than-ha ndful of rmy officers who
delved

before the war had slightly into the subject of code and cipher”.

He directed both the code half of the unit overseas and the cipher unit

There, my husb nd worked for the duration of the war. Although he had
not been in the unit from the time of its first establishment a*t GHQ,

was

hQ/TOS-rpi»argnu.‘ the officer” selecte(dgof all those presenf/‘,o stay behind
at the end of forld War I following the Armisticelto write the history
the oeo-tlon both in the code field and the cipher field.

He was thus retained in France until April of 1919, at which time he

returned to the United States.

110 cwm. ]
During the time that we had been working at«Riverbank, among the
A 7 YAAf t
visitors who came, were not only”~Lily w ,Bill¢ Burkeir, a movie

director or two and, of course, a.stream of college professors who came,
more or less reluctantly, to look into Mrs. Gallop’s claim” that her

cipher proved thrt Bacon wrote Lhakespeare. Among all these’¢ were” a

few who c ime to ask for help. One day Int.o our office strolled Colq@h/l

Fabien with a 1 rge he vy-set ™ nfnmprjny*nft him ™ 1h / att che case
stentorian * ya

in his hand. In his normal @ddaadaaaa voice, Colonel Fabdren introduced

the gent)Jemen as a represent tive from Scotland Yard, who had come to us

for help. Thet the Scotland Yard official brought was a significantly

large mass of correspendence, that is letter”, which had been intercepted

by either British or United States censorship officials. The

correspondence p-ssed between tha4; number, perhaps ne rly 200 _ents,®

Germans and Hindus, who were fomenting a revolution in India, which
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they we e convinced would be successful because Great Bri was so
busily engaged in her war with Germany. \We took a preliminary look

t this nrss of correspondence. Many of the letters were very long
but the fortunate thing, "di"was revealed t once, was th t the
signatures were in the same type of cipher as the body of the letters.

This c”rher consisted of groups of three numbers, such as, 26-2-39,

4-1-7, and the like. In many of the-e numer 1 groups” of three,
throughout whole letter, the middle number would be either 1 or 2.
Then another gr.au,.- G£ N/showedXalso/groups of three numbers but

in this c°?e,tha middle numeral might be any number, such as 4-21-8,

9-23-2,etc. This, even *n our early days/of self Instruction mbout

ciphers, we recognised as a kind of code> jin other words, K cudu LuTTk
inste d of a formal code book consisting of groups of

letters, such -s J] AKRE/ to represent a word,phr se or sent- .ce,

this.A tyre of cade book the Hiidus nd Gerr/ ns W PO

t k-ing-nrhl-rh mill d-W ». could liw*c mmm>** a ut
e ers n, nd not rouse suspicion. Curiously erough, this

is ;till regarded tod'y b¢ the innocent” s beln , impregn mle

nd they S'y incredulousiy, how in the world could cipher letter

decipher d,, unless one
tx WMLIA/M fl

manner of*uti zing sUg”"book

-mshowing /roups of numbers such s 4-21-8, is to turn to p g 4, find
a letter such °s E, which one needs to decipher message one 1s

/.composing, then the second number recpr”s the line of th t pyge 4 nd
Gl the, il number is the letter desired”, In the c¢ se of the cond
\  «TP* of letters where the middle number of e ch series of tnree ws

--Lrys one or We, was obviously enciphered by u-e of a dictiongr;/ or

a simil'r ‘te e words 'y*e-r in two columns pD paje the 1 nd

g! i *Q .
middle numeral, wvu su th t this j s n EW-

2
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Collier, author*book title, ”Germany'and The Germans”. The

Chicago trial ended in conviction of all fifty some Germans and

Hindus.

Some weeks passed and a second trial was set for hearing in
San Francisco, California. In this case, there were more than a
hundred Hindus nd Germans on trial. It was gainst this gnoup of
Germans that our solution of the code-cipher letters, tile numeral
series showing either ! or \% as t"e middle number of the three-
numeral groups® taxjftn agentlcomposing the letter—to get whole words for
each series of three numbers*”*could-to-deBlgnateit instead of single
letters - a less laborious type of encipherment than the other, ort"
course. The numeral thljee-2-7, for example, would mean page 3,column
2, line 7, perhaps 4et was the word for AND; similarly,
another Indication of this type of encipherment was that many of the
first numerals of these groups of three ran considerably greater in
numerical order than those in the other groups of letters, where laziness
and haste had persuaded the conspiring letter writer to choose his
single letters from the early pages of the MCode Book” used rather
than to select them from all pages? consequently, we never saw high

A

numbers, such as 187 or 312, which could certainly torde been used had

the correspondent/li)lffil:lstrious enoughrin the vttor—type of -system.

Here” we were dealing with -t(l?é/* dictionary and we had great successes we
had before. We felt that it was not a too-modern dictionary, that it

was a dictionary which had been published”before 1900, but we could state
with absolute certainty that on page thus and so, column thus and so.
appeared this word or that word which revealed the: two texts in the
.letter®. Again Colonel FabxlleAri wired and telephoned all over this country

and cabled to Great British with no result. The book was not forth '

coming from anywhere. Of course” we did not know the title, we did
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<IV< | T
not know the name, all we knew was that it was a two volume English-

German dictionary. We could not, of course, determine which was volume

I and volume II. There came the day when William Friedman proceeded to
San Francisco to appear again as an expert witness in the tr*ijl against
more than one-hundred Hindus and Germans there. Again, while waiting to
be called to the witness stand, he continued his search for the elusive
dictionary. One day he went across the Bay to the University of California
and searched through the library. This would seem like a very possible
source for an old@© dictionary. However, he had no luck. He was/g)arllglél\rxlf at
disconsolately across the campus at the University and met face to face a
man he knew but whowvhe had not seen” since his early years at Cornell
University. This man had been his Instructor in English”® his freshman
year in college. The now Professor at the University of California,
greatly surprised to see my young husband, asked him what was his reason
for being there. When my husband explained,the young Professor said

have you tried the Co-op. My husband replied, no, that that had not
occurred to him. He was directed to its location and then ha himself went
to the Cooperative bookstore. It was, at that time, attended by an
elderly man, who”interested in my husbands request, was very helpful and
industrious in a search for such a book. He rummaged for a long time
among books on dusty shelves and in piles on the floor. He finally pulled
forth a book and said,”here is a German-English dictionary, but I fear it
is not the right volume.” My husband took a look. The dictionary was
dated 1880, which was about the date that we had believed the dictionary
to be. ﬁnfi he looked e» the pages for certain words found that it

e.-rrtUT"
was the correct”volumee It was the English-German volume of”“the two

volume dictionary. o *
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Thus for the second time, the kindly goddess of luck had brought
once
forth fortunate encounters with needed evidence and my husband @dwagain

demonstrated his good luckj7Which has foliltowed him throughout life;
of meeting quite by accident some person who/turns out may be of great
value or use to him. In this case, of course, it was books » books which
it seems.cso(%ll[(Ll easily have been found from our descriptions when these

bucks were requested. u

Tnis San Francisco case chargingOhspiracy against this great
number of Hindus and Germans, had received more a Mention than the Chicago
case. Theamtirni special reason for this bee&uee a Hindis by name. Ram
Chandra, had turned state)s evidence and was testifying for the prosecution.
Each morning, the more than a hundred defendants were brought into the
court room under heavy guard, and removed at the end of each portion of
the trial. Other Hindus, whether a part of the conspiracy or not but
at least sow who had not been detectedw as such, were greatly interested
in the trial and had constant attendance in the court room. A very few
days after the trial began and Ram Chandra was in the witness chair,
answering questions elicited by the prosecution, there was a sudden stir
in the court room. A Hindu in the gallery, looking down on the audience,
pulled a gun and shot Ram Chandra dead as he sat in the witness chair.

A United States Marshall, from the main floor, took aim at the assassin
in the gallery and he too,lay dead. This case with two Hindus dead within
a matter of second” in the court room, of course received considerable
attention in the press. Both of these Hindu-German conspiracy cases endea
in conviction and sentence” for all concerned. The leader of the

b
conspiracy in this countryAﬂ?%Drince Haramfda Lal Gupta, however, escaped

to Mexico and never served X sentence.
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It was a matter of considerable regret to me that I could not
accompany Mr. Friedman to San Francisco or that I had not been summoned
as a code-witness with him on this matter since we had completed this
task completely alone, but someone had to stay behind and crort of oil
the machinary at Riverbank. During this period, while we were the
Cipher Bureauy, at Riverbank, my husband began writing on solutions of
ciphers. The reader may recall® that I stated in the beginning, that
so little was known in this country of codes and ciphersg when the United
States entered World War I, that we we oursieves”had to be the
learners, the workers and the teachers all at one and the same time

liam Friedman’s brilliant mind had leaped forward.In less than a year,
he had developed methods of dfcipherm in systems which had hithﬁé‘;‘ot
been considered completely in the cljbherArevelt®. 1 reca!l that/year,

I joined him in the production of a brochure entitled, ” The Solution Of

Running Key Cipher’s . This was the first of a series of brochures,
' bring
Colonel Fabien, as always, spared no expense to forth results of any

experiments on his property He,however, loved power so much that he was
utterly unwilling for anyone to have his mame appear as ta»- author of any
text produced ecl*any subject at Riverbank. He therefore, had published
these brochures™at his own ejypense and privately. There was only a

letter of transmittal in the beginning of each brochure from my husband,
a more or less tangible evidence of authorship but the appearance of his
name on any title page or elsewhere as author, was not permitted «by

-dycezeinte- mam t

£
Another instan” during our residence at Rlverbnrifrj MillCh provenr

thnt o-thers-oame-dre-.us«f lpy was that after actual arrival in France
was
contemplated; that is, a cipher device which had been developed by the

of the A merican Expeditionay Forces, the use of a machine cipher

British and believed by them to be indecipherable. Although the Playfair
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cipher (*-of which more later) had for generations been the official field
cipher for the British Armed Services® they now believed that they had
an indecipherable cipher produced by this small device. Thefr
own experts had tested it and pronounced it invulnerable®as had the French'
and -a» had the newly formed cipher bureau in Washington. However,
Professor Manley of the University of Chicago* who,as Ilfl%d related, had
become®® the head of the Cipher Burecau when formed anew in Washingtpn and
who had himself had a life time hobby of cryptography, had seen
demonstrated hie c”pacity’-tn—the fleld-ef solutions of the ciphers in the
great masses of material turned over by Riverbank to the Cipher Bureau
when it was formed in Washington” andrwh» had made the statement in writing
of ifilliam Friedman, "in thirty years” close association with men of
science, I have rarely,if ever,met one whose powers of scientific analysis
@daw were as great as those of Friedman™*". Hence it was’ttet Professor
Manley suggested that the erffleer,who, by the wayhah.formal® bgen at
Riverbank before being commiseionedandmade the lalson officer between
France and WashIn~tecn* this officer wa to Riverbank- bringing this

HT_
so-called xjaick -etone devicej for study and analysis,*by—those of us

(9

working-on ciphers there.“ lie were given five short messages to solve.

OxEkft/Ey ) ftruy" 4 4 -1
We had”seen the -machine small machine, andwe”1"wthe %

which it worked. It was an eccentric device,fern® inner and outerdisc®

fixed contained an alaphabet either straight”normal, that is A to
Z. or it could bef key word mixed, random mixed es—wiratever. The inner

* i\

disc which alsji.contained”an-alphabet” was, however, not concentric, that

ig it did not prové according to a fixed patter” I» tter number one on

the outer disc set at letter number one on the inner disc, letter number

two ©On the outer set at letter number two on the inner and so forth,

The inner disc moved at irregular intervals because the outer d sc had
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twenty-seven intervals and the inner disc twenty-six. Of course, when
these five short messages came to us for solution, we had no knowledge

or even a wild gues as to the sequence of letters on either of the two

alphabets. However, William Friedman set to work upon these messages”
in
yt looked like an/surmountable task.because, in the first place, for a
(A iz

field decipher used on -a war, on a battle front, would 1% utilized
probably one”hundred to two”hundred times a day even if the key changed
everyday there would be a great mass of messages to study. But as I
stated before, here were five short messages and we were dealing completely
with two alphabets, one moving irregularly against the other and with no
knowe&dge of eitherAl\/Iy husband lined up the five short messages and
began to puzzle/ them out. A fter a number of hours of work, he believed
that he had the basis of the alphabet on the outer disc. The reader should
understand here, that with such a very small amount of in a case
of a complex cipher of this sort, the only hope of solution would be to
make assumptions or guesses at the text and attempt to build up an
alphabet or part, at least, of an alphabet* The
assumption that Mr. Friedman made after some many hours of work was,
that the person who had enciphered these test messages had used in one
of the alphabets the word "cipher"s ‘This proved, of course, at once
XtJhat it was a keyrsword based alphabet. He reasoned, therefore, that if
a person who enciphered these messages were so foolish as to use
a word connected with the process or associated with the process Itself,

-that the other word forming the basis for the other alphabet would be of

similar nature. He therefore began to try to build up a second alphabet

based upon every word which in his mind he could conjure up as as
W Ve kz >
associated™ word with "cipher". A fter some bum work, and he

had gotten nowhere, he appealed to me. I was sitting across the room

from him very busily engaged on something of“urgent importance. He
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asked me to/lean back in my chair, close my eyes and make my mind
blank, at least as blank as possible. Then he would propound to me
a question to which I was not to consider the reply to any degree,
not even for one second, but instantly to come forth with the word
which his question aroused in my mind. I proceeded as he directed.
He spoke the word cipher, and I instantaneously responded,
ftmachine"s Yo ua””als proved to be the correct word officer in
Washington had broken a fundamental rule” ~Shat is, when choosing a
key word, never choose one which is associated with the project with
which one 1is engaged. For example, if the reader is engaged in
counterfeiting ten dollar bills in lots of one thousands, s&d he
would be wise \fﬁ_o gg‘a)send a eommunication to a friend using the key
word counterfeit -Lillis or even the word cxiuniarfed]® Nevertheless,
the word machine. which T"ha?i—“PeagteWith X spring 1t elasticity”
wher "asked the above-related question by William Friedman, was the
correct word. It had not been attempted isr in this solution by
my husband, because with his metlculouff accuracy in details, he would
never have thought ofthe "wheatstone”cipher device as a machine.
Among the several $ty”rds which he had tried to pair up with
the word cipher which he had assumed as a key word for the first
alpha\t{teutjw?re v&;ords 1ikey alphabet indecipherable, solution, system,
method? and the like. But since a very small hand-operator#'device was

before him, i1t did not occur to his meticulous mind to use the word

machine. Nevertheless, machine it was.

The five test messages were solved and on their way back to

Washington within ¢hree hours of the time they had been received.

The waiting worth B ritish, French and American, who had expected to

Install this device on the western front as a means of communicaicn
J‘. S VWL-A»»»—— B

0
in the front lines was Ash®4,——%e-/\®>>4d/\ﬁN0t many months after
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William Friedman departed fj*om Riverbank as a young Lieutenant and had
proceeded to France”, activities at Riverbank began to die, slowly, it

is true, but nevertheless pas?©— existanee”as this yougg
pegson or that young person took'Trp*Tgoreror »Tine-»4£ i€k ur ztnullroi or
departed for more busy and perhaps more lucrative jobs. [ stayed at
Riverbank until late August and then I too determined to leave. Colonel
Fabsen’s deceptions while posing as a great benefactor to us in our

lose
individual lives had caused me to my taste for connection with

this institution ,* n addition, all during the time I had been a1
Riverbank, whether activj|ly or in a minor way being associated with
Mrs. Gallop's ciphe”f I was becoming dissolufioned with her and her
work. No more sincere person ever lived, I am convinced, but she
was a victim of*¢ what is bes%‘fo call, perhaps, auto-suggestion. She
had been a teecher of English Literature. She had studied many of the
Elizabethan books and had noted the variant forms of type used in those
books. It occurred to her that the use of these differing forms of
type might have some significance#and it was guggeotod*to her by Mse

and her sister, Miss Kate Wells, had been influenced to

A pK JU i
work with Dr. Orvil]*Owen,”in Detroit, who had developed what he
called a word cipher/\) a&_method which he used to prove that Bacon@ wrote
Shakespeare Dr. Owen had become so convinced that Bacon was
Colonel

Shakespeare, that he persuaded Fab ten “and here again, we

learned of this long afterwards) to finance him as he conducted diggings

in the River Wyej® in England for Shakespeare manuscripts. But this is (@

not a by of Dr. Owen. Mrs. Gallop, however, through this association

with Dr. Owen, became interested in the authorship of Shakespeare.
Vau X thus

She was a far gmeatsr.4HLctqueM than Owen and her interestA'n
the variant fozpns of type used in Elizabethan botakSf £he was, unlttar

a scholarly manner with the works known to be
she knew of his mention of a cipher system in the
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1605 edition of the Advancement of Learning. The mAd€casement of
learning was published in 1623 in Latin, in a «vsny greatly extended
form” I<rrRrtrteh Francis Bacon describes a cipher method which he said
would defy detection, that it was a perfect method of concealment.

He stated that he had invented this cipher system when he was in Paris
in his early youth, and that he had never doubted its value. Mrs.
Gallop applied to this cipher system of Francis Bacon*s to the type
forms in the Elizabethan books. And to her eyes she was able to

classify them in the manner dictated by Bacon in the Bay -W The-

I had, as I said before, become MerolufllimfrcLAf not completely
(aa”™) srf;' . 7 U
dissolu'jiioned, I had beeesse very skeptical of Mrs. Gallop’s work.
The method was absolutely scientific, it certainly could have been used
in thejbooks of the Elizabethan period, but that it was used, I was not
ready to admit. In the summer of 1916, I had myself spent many hours,
days and even weeks trying to see the classifications of the type
forms that Mrs, Gallop claimed to see. The young students who were
brought there to work under my direction had never been able to de-
cipher, a simple message, not even a single word. I, therefore, could
not honestly stay at Riverbank laboratories and continue to work in
Mrs. Gallop’s field. This and,cfnuch more complete story of the Fabien
- GallOIp connection and the Baconain ciphers 1is told in the book
written by my a-ssistant and me, calledwThe Shakespearian Ciphers
Examined. There is no point in going further with that particular
the authenticity of

story here. Suffice it to say, that it was my doubts of/Mrs. éailyp’s

work which led me to leave Riverbank in the Autumn after my husband

had gone to 9
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It was with  mixed feelings that I prepared to take my de

days going over the estate at
Riverbank, remembering the people and events which who and which had
remembered
come and gone during the time I was there. I Billie Burke
hempen

having climbed the sixty foo$ heavy @af@ad® rope-ladder spider-web which
had been woven by sailors ifi which Colonel Fabien used as a backdrop for
his outdoor recreation spot oi’tside ami where he gathered
people in the evenings around open fire. I remembered the zoo. Yes-

) small ) were ycu
Riverbank had a Animals Mrs. FabSen -first love. She had the

usual types of animals seen in any zoo; proper caees were built for
them on the estate, in that area which was between the Lincoln Highway
and the Fox River. She also had enormous flocks of ducks on which some
kind of expetiments were being conducted 3® according to The Colonel’s
ideas. She had on a large glass enclosed porch outside the dining room
of the villa, the Fabien home, a chimpanzee in a heavy iron cage, who

was called Patsy. Patsy was extremely jealous of Mrs. Fabien, The was her
particular pet. She even took him out of the cage and took him for walks.
He disliked and distrusted everyone else.iriien persons were dining in the
dining room inside, Patsy used to shake his cage and roar violently and
carry on in a temperamental manner,quite characteristic of the most
impetuous two year .old child. ! There w&e in the living room in the villa*
an instrument of which I*H never heard and 'fchm never seen the like of
since. It was called the choralcelo. It was a kind of pipe organ, being
equipped with pipes as an organ is but it was also a combination piano*
organ. Colonel Fabien had offered to permit me to learn to play it while
I was there, but there had never been time for that. The villa was, of
course, equipped with the great pipes necessary to play the instrument.

A fter the sound laboratory was built under the direction of Dr. Wallace

Sabing of Harvard, Colonel Fab¥en bought a second of these Instruments
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and placed it el Hier"iff in the laboratory building
attached to the sound cham((BerL There he had this instrument used for
n<
testing Xfca acoustical properties It was at this laboratory that the

first preparaXioa--"material)"for making rooms and auditoriums carry
sound well, was perfected This material which could be applied to the

walls of auditoriums and rooms and thereby lastly improve the acoustical

/Genetics Laboratory, which had been the province of my young husband and

/" 8Bbve which in studio quarters, we had spent the first few months of ourj
married life. Were was [3¢ Geneticist tfeeno sut-J The B
Drosophila and Qali-phora, the tiny fruit fly, which had been the subject
of my husbands experiments under Colonel Fabien’s d-ireetian, andTK, _
bottle# in which they were married and divorced and their descendants
counted and examined for color of eyes, lack of wings, etc., all were
gone. ;Fhese was an engineer and an assistant or two whe were carrying

ion with the()[ské_ulAnd laboratory Mrs. Galldp and Miss Wells, her sister,
were living there in comfort and continuing their work, day after day.jy
Although it was in 1889 thatM rs. Gallop© had first revealed her
"discovery" to the world, it was still not accepted in the scholar
worldj""1 recalled many amusing incidents which had occurred while we
were there. My young husband and his Genetics experiments were the object”
of a search one time by Chicago newsmen, who had heard some rumors that
Colonel Fabien was testing a Genetic experiment of the effects of
planting wheat or o?ts by the Almanac rather than by agricultural science»
The newsmen tried to reach Colonel Fabien, he was away. My husband was
accompanying him on one of his trips. Mrs. Fabien®“was reached by a
newsman calling from Chicago, who stated to her/that he understood that
there was an experiment hiclj\£here, might be of considerable Interest

ljZ-
. : } . .
to the public gn*ngi.tn whAoh was connected”with mutations or other
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genetic changes caused by moonlight. He had already told Mrs. Fagi%‘ﬂa
that he was in reality searehingf/@br William Friedman. When the news
man asked Mrs. Fabien if it was not. ¢;ye that Friedman was planting oats
according to the light of the moon, she replifétei "For all I know, the
young man is probably plantiiqg wild oatsfright now”, This story caused
great amusement and Colonel FabI;E)n_told 9& 1t many times as a means of
embarrassing my “pung-husband in front of other people?tfl recall/another
amusing story which turned on Colonel Fabien himself. One night the
telephone rang and during the night,"the wee small hours, when Mrs.

the telephone, it was George Fabien on the other end.

Fabslc:?l reached for
He said, “hello my dear I’'min jail". Whereupon, she replied,,n" 4
"Oh...are you dear? Welltelephone me when you get out”, and hung up the
receiver recal Fabwn s passion for buying junk.” He went
about to express and railroad freight offices buying up unclaimed and
damaged express and freight shipments of one sort or another. He had
built on the estate a small single gauge railroad which led to a building
which he appropriately named, "Temple de Junk", Many times he would have
no idea what was within the packages. When these had been shipped to
their final destination in the Temple de Junk, Colonel FabiiSn would
gather a small crowd about him. as the packages were opened. There was
occas”ionaly some consternation but most often it was laughter. I recall
one instance when a large carton about five“by five was opened, it
was found to contain nursing bottles; another box wasifound to contain a
vast quantity of mens" shoes but they were all for the7 left foot. Also,
on” one occasion, a small carton about two/gse:hree feet was found to
contain nothing but «develloped Kodgls xxxm, Colonel Fabien picked one
,held them up to the light
or two of them/SOESES3I3Em3BS0O® @ and found that they were
photographs of nudes. His curiosity was intrigued and he immediately

ordered William Friedman.whom he had dubbed the official photographer of
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theRiverbank estatce/“,ince this happened to be one of the advocations
of Will&ani FrTcilBiuii. He ordered» ao 1 to go at
once to his laboratory and develop the entire centeniU of This
"3rti happened before I came into the picture at Riverbank but as it was
told to me, Mr. Friedman protested after a while becuase there we no
w ia after some dozens and dozens had been developed which were not

of nudes. Even that subject can grow tiresome, it seems after a
while recalled one or two occasions when we on the west side of the
Lincoln highway, that is that part of the Riverbank establishment de-
voted to at least semi-academic and scientific work, even we were concernée
and worried for a period of a few days when word of Mrs. Fabwas prize
anim]@)ias ill or had a broken bone or somethin%hé)fwtaléat sort. Mrs.
Fab loved not only wild animals but/more passionately devoted
to ner herd of prize cattle, who were shipped here and there to fairs all
over the country and, if my memory serves me correctly, won her several
prlzaft. There was a Dr, Henderson, a veterinarian Who/}é?l(;rge of the healtl
and welfare of the cattle. And I recalljpthe business, the bustle, the
almost hysterical occupation everyone, servants, workm”nv on the
estate, «>"&@®a?-academic workmeh'too;*were all in a feeling of tenseness
and keyed up to a high degree when the-nco.ttle” the prize cattle were to
start forth on a journey in their rounds of exhibition”. [ think that
[’ve already related that “Mae ”, the prize bull, which had been
imported from Scotland and had been purchased for thirty thousand dollars,

had his likeness incorporated in bronze in the Chicago Art Museum.
AMPrecalljail ove-*A~gain my anger at Colonel Fabien for running my
e
Y3
personal life to the extent that when I needed to buy articles of

clothing, he insisted that I be accompanied by the secretary in his
gdboi/t/ ~J*

Chicago office, a*woman wdan forty”of distinction and accomplishmen

but hardly a person I would have chosen to select my clothes for me.
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Ifcw assoon evident to mp n-r+tny gf.tto first ?f
QTyahl+5 nrig jp=R*-Akilongnj tA K T U m A i wonnns 9A srreereserassssssasens fpr,,,!,~-
Colonel Fabien Insisted that I buy everything, every single article of
clothing from hose all the way up to hats,in all 1ayers/at Marshall
Field "Company. I protested that their prices were not within
my range. Colonel Fabawn insisted that whatever I bought could be
charged to his account and I would pay him back)as I could MRL of my
salary. I was utterly helpless because he controlled my personal funds
to such an extent that I had no other choice than to follow his orders.
To this day, I remember particularly one hat, a winter hat which the
secretary insisted upon my having which cost fully three times what I
had ever in my whole life up to then}paid for a hat. A winter coat too
is etched into my memory} pecause” of the anger that I felt at so much
of my money going into Marshall Field clothing when I could have dq4jh)
very nicely with much less expensive articles and have used my money for
other thing personal life at Riverbank ltfself .too, was completely
at the command of Colonel Fabien. My evenings,at his ordersbt,'*vere always
spent,with rare exceptions, explaining to visiters and showing movil*Cz
pictures of Mrs. Gallyp s by literal,cipher. In the day times too, when
he returned from the city with visiters, he would seek me out to
accompany him and his visitor or visitors, about the estate showing this
or that activity and I soon learned that my rol” was to hold forth at
every possible point upon the cipher proving that Bacon was Shakespeare.
In fact, at the time I was hired by Colonel Fabien and went to Riverbank,
it was called to my attention that Gldkxrge FabWi was suing a movie
producer, by nam"-‘Selig Harrison, who had produced a Shakespeare play
in Hollywood/l in which 1!'UUTluiiie Norma Shearer was the heroine and
in view of the fact that this movie producer expected to-at that time

/f/{;produce other Shakespeare plays in the form of movies, Hollywood version,
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Colonel Fabien sued him. T have forgotten the exact title or legal
from )
claim in the case but it was the subject of news items, getting one
many
to paragraphs over a period of days, even weeks, in the Chicago

newspapers. I have evenjat th"Smoment forgottenSAaEE the outcome of this

: : ) /cu
case. I think it was mperhaps a stalemate and necither Fatten nor

\7C1 I H*
Harrison won, but it did satisfy Colonel Fabwn’s r*ouirement of getting*”

Q6®2@Qgclaim of 15
the/Baconlan authorship before the public in the form of newspaper head-
lines and stories. I recall hearing many rumors afterwards from persons
who came to Riverbank that this had been a matter of what is properly q

called” collusion between the movie producer and George FabAllzénA

recall' that time after time on the above” mentioned rounds of

H5
demonstration by Fabien target at Riverbank when I was made to AccompanyJ
Gifef’S
him, that many times he took %’Vem over the show part of the place, that
is the side of the estate which was east of the Lincoln highway and )

d't included the Fox River and the Dutch windmill on the other side of the :
river, the swimming pool, the zoo,T}let-tio. .et». As the/ limousine with

the chauffeur would pass by the great stone entrance onto the highway to
cross to the other side where were the scientific and engineering and
academic pursults ttet Colonel Fabien would strte in"arvery dramatic
VO04ee "and IXaleay;thad tn-’ feeling Jthat-he'Was at least figuratively -

be~ting-hie -chest with this remark? "And.-now « will..see here that

X . . learning
" a man“wlthout a common school education, had built up an institution of
UlSc J
which will rival the medium universities”

A claim which he could -oertalnly make in at least one respectythat of
the sound laboratory which perfected Sabinite, and whose engineering
went on to investing., developing the invention of nstruments
< ACU44 W K) U m-E£ '
which were of the great war-time use. [ am net* familiar with the naméS

of these devices but I have seen them. The enginaer, Mr. Eisenhower,

who was at Riverbank when I arrived, mstayed there and although he himself



(43)

is, at the present time,no longer livin is son is still carrying oi®
I understand, engineering work at th< irmen both
@w Colonel and Mrs. Fabien had died.was left to the state of Illinois
for a state park with the sole exception# of the engineering and sound
laboratories.,;Colonel Fabien, in demonstrating this clairn® which I
quoted above, also did demonstrate how a boy could grow up to be a very
powerful and rich man,at least in those days, although he had no formal,
education. I learne while at Riverbank from one of the persons employed '
in the Bliss-Fabian Cotton Goods Corporation, of George Fabiens back*
ground. He had been awa from home, in Boston, when he was a lad, and
perhaps he had not finished\\common school. ZHe spent some years

on the lumber dacks of Chicago and then went North to lumber forests»at
the age of nineteen” had gone T<\ St. Lohis and procured a position as
salesman in the Bliss-Fabien Cotli(#l/ Goods Corporation. He revealed
himself to be who he was, that 1s the eldest son of the FabientB, the
senior member of the firm in Boston. \ But he made the manager of the

St. Louis office promise that all sales made by him, George Fabien,
would be reported to the home office as those Mr. X. After two years
when Mr. Xis sales had made such an astonishing effect in Boston at the
home office, the senior Fabien demanded thatKthe St. Louis manager
bring this Mr. X to Boston so that the senior Fabien could meet him.
And thus was staged a dramatic reunion between father and “article son.
George Fabien was reinstated in the family graces $long with being given
the managership of the Chicago office, the second largest office of the
firm . An/d two years later the father died and my un\derstanding was”that

. : : :
at that time George Fabien had not jaherited his share of the corporation

live
but several millions in cash. He did not at all like the ordinary
millionairew as noted for his excentricities/’and as I learned during

my residence at Riverbank, in the nearby towns of Geneva, St. Charles,
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.Aurora, the whole estate was the subject of much speculation and even
gossip. Although he almost invariably wore his own deviSing of a riding
costume when he was on the estate, he never rode* Although he had many
and all kinds of cars, and machines on the place, he hever used any of
themj"nd @dddigw, some period in his life, after Riferbank was
established and he had perhaps tired of Mrs. Fab¥e¥1*s pursuits in which

he could not whole-heartedly join, he had conceived the idea of building

up what he called his~in&tl.tution of learning.

During those days and weeks when I was making up my mind to stay
or not to stay, the most insistant thought collllrsing through my mind over
and over again, was that I really could not believe that anyone’s eyes
could see what Mrs. Gallop’s eyes had seen in the Elizabethan type.

I was convinced that Colonel Fabian would insist that{go on
with this attempt to break the back of the academic world in X

determination not~to reoognl .any.other authorship for th® «great

join the cipher bureau in Washington. I returned, therefore, to my

home town, where my father was living in the- house with a housekeeper
at
after my Mother’s death and had had/that time two paralytic strokes

u
but had recovered sufficiently to be able to be- walk about mere-»
or lass.- At any rate, I felt that for the short time that my
husband remained in France, I could give some attention to Ithough

%
my father had been a character somewhat like George Fab}i/en in his rigid

requirement of running everyone”s personal life.
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I obtained a part time job in the local library to pass some of the . 9
time away and stayed in this small town of Huntington, Indiana until

the letter came with the news that my husband was coming home.}\l went

to join him in New York City» Hom t(hore we went to Pittsburgh
to visit his family and we began to discuss what he should do C.gl%he
field he should pursue in l'ooking for a peacerxtime position. Colonel
Fabwn had been WﬁMth;dCb] my husban$*£n P_rance”;fox'. months) to come

back to Riverbank, even stating,” your sala{y has been going on. Come
(glvL

immediately, your services“are ended. SoT one thlingk we were both in -

u o !
accordj?«d that is, @both of us doubted the validity of Mrs. Gallpp's__"“

cersg S pec

E |

: A o
cipher ibiEpite of our()great respect for her as a person of distinction,\‘\“i
b |
and « therefore, we could not return to Riverbank. My husband made

inquiries and we went several places”/other cities, for him to be inter-
viewed in connection with poSlllon, pg -hha rquter £HI1 Tfina1l.
husband was first and foremost a Geneticistj*but he felt that he
would like to have a position in industry somewhere in some manner where
his extraordinary gift of scientific analysis could be utilized.//W e never

learned how................. End tape*# (©
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We netfer learned how Colonel Fabr managed to follow our day by day
whereabouts, but he dijf it very accurately because every time my husband
had an in“ferview somewhere, in connection with a position, another
telegram would arrive from Colonel Fabler . "Your salary ©has been going
on. Return to Riverbank at once.” We finally gave up to the point of
having a discussion with ourselves as to our future course of aption.
We decided that we should return to Riverbank and listen to Colonel
FabAen s proposition. That we would llkewise”liave three conditions dic-

tating our return there”which we would insist uponp%le first. that we

. . A
should not live on the Riverbank estate"“two, that we should be free to
live our”personal lives without ta» direction or dictation from Colonel
Fabien and three, that we should be permitted absolute freedom to prove

or disprove Mrs. Gallop’s “cipher”.

Colonel. He quite readily, in fact too readily, we shoul
pected, agreed to our conditions mad-—salary was discus
sifted on giving us a s
mo Am« Y o wexuu ¢ o that- and -within a short time

ted retirraeduhi PiverQwwSry] Oneof our expectations, of course, was that

W oiild dx/u
my husband I\Pe" presentedlé\With a check, so often mentioned in Colonel

Fabten’s pursuing telegrams that his salary had been going on. However,
days, weeks and months, passed by and we were doomed to disappointment.
Sou

Once Colonel Fabxen had the bird in the hand, he forgot or deliberately
) - yltn-U *ColJeXjl axxJt

ignored the promise uusoliolted, ol course,  on my *& part, but

Nou
nevertheless a promise made several times.> Calonel Fabfcan managed to

gather together a small group of fairly interesting people and proceeds”

with the work of testing and authenticating Mrs. Gallfp s cipher by

U of
their attem pts”*~irst, to authenticate Mrs. Gallop’s reading MEL cipher

messages™tot to elicitf* further readings by their own efforts. William



Friedman began to write, at .Colpnel Fab! some brochures and
/ VytutUM !
pamphlets on the solution of ciphers. These were privately published by
George Fabiien and my husbands name « B, as in the case of the first one
running—key

on@®®MKfc 4+— — ciphers, did not appear except on the letter of
transm ittal®* which wa valiantly tried
to get Colonel Fabien to consent to some psychological tests of Mrs.
Gallip. With our limited knowledge of psychology, it seemed to us that
her belief in the cipher had been so great that her eyes had been in-
fluenced to see things which no other eyes could see. However, every time
arrangements had been made for an expert to come to Riverbank and proceed
with such a test, Colonel Fabian managed somehow to have the plans changed
or cancelsfcl® Thus, as time went on, we began to be convinced that he would
never fulfill his promise to permit us to “prove or disprove Mrs. Gallop’s
cipher”.

Al1£9”" Shortly after our return, requests and urgln”s began to come
from Army o fficials in Washington, who had been so impressed
with Williams Friedman’s abilities in the field of communications both in
cryptography and cryptanalysis, thatfchey wished him to accept a permdnant
commission in the Army, Colonel Fabiin finally agreed*'that he should take
a physical examination fo a commission in the Army which was given at
appearby Army post. Mr* Fr dman failed in this examination, the medical
examination showing, so it wa cl&imue%, suheart murmur” -Thus ended a

commission in the regular Army, the same Army o fficials began

tterr to press him to come to Washington as a civilian. The-first offer
which came to him was for a salary considerably largerjthan what he was

at
making at Riverbank. They also offered me a about one-half the

offer they were making William Friedman. We proceeded to inform Colonel
Fa of this offer and to state frankly” that we were eager to accept it.

He began to argue that how much better off we would be by staying at



Riverbank and he said, Whatev(eigzhey offered Yom, k wxix dowbie« Time was
not {he only factor Wh'\ch prevented us from 1eaving\after the, first sucl-lo
offer, but simply becauseThe”put arag"many difficulties iij/our way £E&Tfldz
we gave up after a time and settled back expecting to\stay at Riverbank
for an\ indefinite period. However, it did not take long to find out that

3k
Colpme |\ Fab}{:n had no intention of keeping his promise ners as he had not

allioz;/?he salary which he claimed had gone on all the time William
Friedman\was in France. W were expected to work at exactly the same
salaries We had had from him befO{e these urglngsk(ﬁme from the War
Department in Washington. He completely ignored th* verbal promise to
double the salary.

A fter the exact and identical situatlonesome months later had
occurred over again, he offering to double the salary offered by
Washington and then later reneging on his promise to do so, we were
\beginning to learn, that if we informed him of a plan which we might have
in the future of lerving h<Rlverbank, that it would be impossible to
Adiscuss 1t with him, -before hla that i1s, it would be unsafe to do so.

So it was* that at the end of 1920, we conducted a negotiation
with the War Department in which we signed contracts which were to begin
January 1, 1921 for a stated salary. We then prepared to leave Riverbank
gradually-and- quietly. When it was almost the actual day of our depart-
ture there, which was just before the Christmas holidays in December of
1920, we then informed Colonel Fabien that we had had a third offer from
Washington, that we had accepted it and had signed contracts and were
leaving Riverbank within a few days. At last I/\;}aOsrae_faite accompll_ii
George Fabien accepted his fate, although not in a very gracious manner.

One of the Items which we were forced to leave behind, was

completed manuscript of William Friedman’s for a very important piece of

writing in the elucidation of cipher solution. It was the manuscript which
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finally came into print under the title, THE INDEX OF COINCIDENCE.
Although all other of William Friedman’s brochures had been printed in
the vicinity of Chicago, this manuscript was not treated in that manner
and my husband was left to wonder a long time what had happened to this
important piece of scientific analysis. Finally a long, long time after
we had taken up residence in Washington, two bound copies had come from
Colonel Fab He had/placedy indeed Mr. Friedman’s name upon the title
page (by the way, this was one of the conditions we”had made on returning
to Riverbank, as well as the others mentioned, namely; that anything which

either of us or both of us together wrote while we were at Riverbank

would be published with the correct name as author). However, as time went
O*
on, this proved to be another example of Colonel Fabien’s deceptions,

some
This brochure, William Friedman learned” W ¢i two or three years later,

had been published in French in France, had been attributed, although not

the book Itself, to nanretj*well known fbenchmen In the
shown &n

field of intelligence and communications, that the two copies which
had been sent to William Friedman in English with his name on the title
page had been printed separately and individually for him alone, so that
he would not discoyer that Colonel Fabien had had tjae pamphlet printed in
France X T

It was particularly ironic that this brochure should have been
published in France and attributed to someone other than William Friedman,
for it is considered by experts in cryptanalysis to describe one of the
most important principles which has become the basis of modern crypt-

analysis.

story uf the foregoing
bn .ater all of the series of
Riverbank pamphlets were properly established under William Friedman’s

authorship by the copyright office and today these pamphlets are genuine

collectors items* Some of them are no longer in existance, a



further copiesA%Ithough greatly i_n demandm (

Our arrival in Washington in January of 1921, was exciting. I
myself had never been in Washington before. Housing was very scarce, in
fact unobtainable. As was proved by the fact that we had been in
Washington exactly one year before Mapartment”in any part of the city
became available, although it was «”“pursuit of minectiall® to cover the
field for available living quarters.

In our official capacity, we went to work for the Signal Corps
which was and still is the communications arm of the Army. The Signal
Corps was housed in a low flattemporary building op what is< known<?now
as Constitution Avenue. Major General George 0. Squier was the Chief of
this branch of the Zirmy at that time. He had achieved some fame as a
minor inventor in the field of radio, as had the then Colonel Joseph O.
Mauborgne, we had met in the very early days of the war, and who was
in 1921, in charge of the Research and Development Division of the Signal
Corps. y husbands great capabilities were bel/leved by Colonel Maubofgpe
to such that even”tally he would develop devices or machines in the
field of communicajtions which would be greatly useful< Our desk work,
however, at that time consisted in revising and creating new codes for
Army field use. The experience of, the war had taught everyone that codes
must be two part codesf /ney”or, enciphering and one for deciphering and
that they must be of frequent change., in other words, they must be changed
frequently. For one”year I worked with William Friedman on this phase
of employment with the Signal Corps® During that time the American
Telephone and Telegraph Company had developed a very large machine which
was called a tele-printer and which could by the simultaneous use of tapes,

wlLz vtw L/'V e 6] c f G
punched with juor-te .signalek* one tape b”ing cipher key and the other a
plain text key, thert the end result”" an automatic encipherment .

fed out on a third tape which would be the original plain language inro

cipher. My husband played with and tested the machine, over and over and
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over + Its advantages and drawbacks were all carefully assessed
One of the drawbacks b that 1t was so large a machine
that it could never have been used anywhere except in a sizable head-
quarters office. ] :
Al/ ’ >

Although we worked very assiduously and at least my husband.*pro-
duced things of enormous value to the Signal Cqrps” were enjoying our
life in Washington, the capital city, to the utmost. The population of
Washington had grown from a mere ( 7+ ) in 1915 to three hundred and
sixty-five thousand by the end of the war. There were four legitimate
theaters and I"who had grown up in what-mighl be 'termed, rural Indiana,
was starved for theater. We attended”at least three times a week, one
performance or another. The winter was very beautiful.. The days very
sunny, seemingly quite warm in the daytime and nights not too cold. No
ice whatsoever, and no bad wind and very little smowj all elements which
had been present with us in over-abundance in the Chicago area, Ve
foolishly concluded that the climate in Washiigton would always be like
that/ exceptionally lovely winter. HI recall very vividly the
inauguration 0f>\}&}lar1r<e<r;£HalrdingA As now,-an*inauguration ceremony took
place on the East Capitol steps. However, there were no seats provided,
no amphitheater arrangements, just the baratround, for thoseinterested
who came to stand the bare steps ceremony taking place upon
the steps with >afFlittle formality» as—possible. I recall that we had no
difficulty getting fairly close to the front of/atg(elience for that
induration. There were no microphones in those days and so the audiences
were perhaps smaller because everyone knew that it would/ impossible to
hear in the open without a set of microphones. Although it was a March

A{-LE
day» it was* very pleasant,», mild weather and we were not uncomfortable

I\

at all standing in the outdoors for aemetime,first waiting for the

official party and then waiting until the new President had been sworn in.
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As Harding’s term went on, many rumors flew about Washington; about
the greenhouse on H Street and the poker games in that house and Harding’s
cronies and his use of the Edward Mcjflal-B-house on I Street, his friend-
ship with EdwaT'd'<Me toin, the publisher of the Washington Post
Therefore as time went on and the Teapot Dome scandal brol¢ce on the

MsAe&x

public, we were not particularly surprised that Edward McClain-s name
should bejprought into this matter. The Congressional investigatiba
y~sed William Friedman’s services to decipher the private correspondence
in this shocking case wherein the Secretary of the Interior, Albert Fall®
was not only indicted but convicted and served a long prison term for hi
complicity in selling government property for privatoproperty to ther
developers, To this day”. we have never understood ho Edward soheny was
not guilty, since he had paid, to Fall the bribe,«» that Fall was guilty
of accepting the bribe. "*William Friedman was® much commended by the
Congressional investigating committee for/\?&l(;lsrk in this case and the
Washington newspapers reported fairly full accounts of the revelations
of the -aa w Committee with the result that Edward Bell Mélgtigr(rle
sent for my husband one day, -a-good-many months afterwards, and requested
<ar inquired into the possibility of having a private code constructed for
his personal use. Apparently the fear that had struck him with the

revelations in the Teapot Dome scandal and his friendship with the chief

operatives in the Teapot Dome plot, if I may call it that, had caused him

to determine that it was unsafe to us”ordinary means of communication,

After my husband had been broached by AeClain"in this matter, we con-

suited a lawyer. The lawyer said it was "M tright for us to go ahead. I
was

say us because was not in office then”having resigned and/Tiidying at

home|and- the dea was that my husband would be the director and that I

would do the hour to hour work of compiling this private code
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should ' _ _ .
execute a contract with McClain and do it on a basis

of a firm contract and mone ieing paid as cqrtain portions of the work
wet® completed. TM " wisdidand- 1 ©pmeilt apprgxtirJrjl.éte{ty sixmonths withi my
husbands help inAavenil;gs—Ktien- he w-as a-t home- in preparing- a ten”thousand
te code fop the purpose demanded”X I-mright-make-a pomment4»ere 1

tinne we tarere becoming w?efa-lrycegf‘xvery wealthy men and their
dealings in money matters. After all our unfair treatment at the hand
George Fabstﬁn, we now found that we were going to have a great deal of
difficulty in holding Edward Bell McClain to the terms of the contractai
To mak a long st¢ry short, we had a delay of something like two
years or re before we ere finall ble to coliéet from zi<mxfche money
which the contract plainly called for a et and certain dates.

dAE>-
/During this period, I had spent approximately six months working for th

Navy Department, gere ggain in co,de compilétio_n)fAI had also given birth
to our first child and by this time we had taken a house in the country,
very muckln the country,as it was in those days.a five acre place in the
heart of)&r\/}llaryland lntall forest trees and with nothing visible within
sight anywhere. Now it is a part of what is known in Washington as the
greater metropolitan area and is heavily built up in all directions from
that handsome country place which we named Green Mansionsy A*

DUrini aur/t@%{eygﬁ? residence at th”is country place which”l ipay imterpo-
le as really in the country at that time, although now it i \
completely surrounded on all sides by a greater Washington area, suberbia
and exerbfa. During our little more than two years residence at Green
Mansions, we learned two important lessons about living and people.
We learned, for example, that anyone who has a country place or a
watering place never becomes lonely”indeed”“hardly has an opportunity to

do what one wishes or even ones chores on the place bedQise everyone who

drives for entertainment Isr passing of time on weekends and summer

?
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evenings, invariably drops in on you. We, I suppose, entertained more
people at an outdoor cook-out supper in one year there than we would
have in five years or parhapo even-ten» in a city hous” The other

life time lesson that we learned was, as our lawyer put it, that “rich/ff"

people never pay their bills”:lihat winter of 1924" we gpent

Mapproximately six months-working in our Txpsta library before an open

fire, my husband in the evenings after he returned from the city «
and me, all ‘day tong as well as evenifigs; oftWo-part code which Sdw&rX
Betl MeGlaln had contracted for and for which money was to be forthcoming
during the progress of its preparation e had great difficulty'**
collecting any money from and we waited a long,long
time, indeed, before he made his final payment® contract or no contract
rd Bell McjL&H(l was the son of the founder and publisher of the
Cincinnati “nquirer and many years before,<he, had placed his son in charge
of the Washington Post which by that time he had acquired, and the rich
young playboy had married Evelyn Walsh, daughter of a very rich family
who had come from the west and built a great residence in Washington on
Massachusetts Avenue. She had been a debutante at the same time as
Alice Roosevelt, daughter of Theodore Roosevelt. She had appeared in
newspapers all over the country in a reproduction of a portrait which had

been painted by one of the foremost artists of that time. A fter she

& married Edward pell MeOalln, uniting two great fortunes as they did, they

J

occupied estate, ra with a nine hole golf cours on
Wisconsin Avenue in Washington. This is now khere the McClain Gardens
gompl_ex of_a]g_)art_m_elnptﬁ lie, but at the time we knew t"e® they were still
living at Friendshi_pXAyartd it was while they were living here, that a three
year old son was kidnapped, only to be later killed when he ran into the
street before a passing automobile. The McCallum-later-had other

children and among them a daughter Evelyn, whom I remember when I

went to the home at Friendship for luncheon one day

Goi'"r 7
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during the time we were constructing his code, and”seen her at the age
of four crawling about on the drawing room floor sucking upon a bottle.
I later saw, as we walked toward the dining room where Mr. and Mrs.
golf partner of the-husb a n d and I had luncheon, that we had

passedlLa smaller dining room where a nurse was feeding the children and
how shocked And horrified I was to see that with this mass of servants in
this rambling great house, the children were fed from Jjars and boxes
and containers in which the food originally arrived, including milk
bottles.

had now been in Washington almost four years. Although we had
originally come upon the basis of a contract for services of six months,,
that contract had been extended for another six months, Then I decided
not to work in office any longer. My husband went with the Signal Corns
on fipnolel specialist appointment through the Civil Service

stay at home and write a

book” JI thought it would be for children on the origins and
development of ,the alphabet. This book has never been finished by the
way> I found “just "h® other da two or three of the beginning chapters
in typing .«among my papers ;T
_ _ I
I We had grown very fond of Green Mansions. However, my husband was
a person who to—beléxfy every minute and he found that the

two hours or more which took him to drive in and back frgjr® downtown
Washington,. Constitution Avenue anlt is known now” took a slice out of

his day he was reluctant to give up We wrote the owners of Green

Mansions and as kedeither to buy Green Mansions(this in order that we
might do with the house what we pleased in the way of remodeling)or would
like to break our lease in order to move into the city. The price that

we were asked for the placewe thought &&& much too high. As we look
back on it now, of course, the price was nothings *seventeen thousand five

hundred,” thlnk” for five acres in a spot which now sells per one third
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awé" for several thousand dollars We regretted very much to70

leave this comfortable old house nestled in the great mass of eeventy

five-toc¢elghty; fe”ttall forest trees; ,its acre or more of apple orchards;

its garden with the more than ne hundred prize iris which the owners

had grown; e spot on the knoll\in the forest trees at one side of the
house where e hammocks and onen replage, were. and the swinging charts,
a la Riverbank which we had &on there.\ W regretted to

leave Green Mansions behind, but my husband felt that time was important
to hi SO we engag to build a house in Chevy Chase, D.C.,\one quarter
mile sbuth of Chevy (hhse Circle, west of Connecticut® Avanue» JThis
house was finisgled and we\\riloved into it in late 1915-.»,])/) Our beloved Cassie,
an extraordinary fine persoh and marvelous cook and housekeeper” had been
with us. sincer ., birth of oﬁr\first child and had always lived in our
house except for her days off. She too, was glad to return to the city”
Although unmarried herself, she had a home in the city with a brother who
was widowed and had two children. She spent all her time off with®them
and for them. Cassie, of course, had her room on the third floor
in our house in Washington,and in the summer of 1926 our second child,
this time a son, was bornH"

recall one of the ways we had saved money
when we were building the lawn and garden after moving into the Chevy Chase
house. To go back-two -yeare“we had purchased a thoroughbred Airedale
puppy when we lived at Green Mansions when the puppy w* six weeks old,
to be a companion and a watch dog for our baby Barbary The two grew up
together andxthe dog was, indeed, a kind of private bodyguard for the
child because when she began to walk and would roam from the house and.
disappear where we knew there were copperheads and rattlesnakes, Cassie
or I would whistle for the dog and the dog would come trotting back
from a direction which)we knew if he took it, would lead us to the

child. We had named the dog/ Crypto. He grew up and was an

absolutely wonderful dog for the type of situation we had at that



(57)

time» However, when we moved into the city, we found that Crypto was
more of a chore than a joy. Crypto was so used to being unrestrained in
the country that he roamed” and not always thoughtfully in the proper

on ne property, tearing and trampling upon flower peds and
plantings. The neighbors began to complain, but by this age Crypto was
extremely difficult to teach any -ohangaho””abits. So that, when a land-
scape gardener whom we had engaged to come and contract for sodding our
lawn and planting our garden, fell in love with Crypto, we traded Crypto
to the landscape gardener, for the sod which created our back lawn. 'This

was not more than three mon

that Crypto had dashed forth onto a through highway dtn which the gardeners
business was located and had been killed by a passing auto. Crypto was
the first of many dogs and cats we supplied for our children. The dogs
always were a grief to us because things happened to them in a manner
more or less similar to what had happened to Crypto.

It was only a very short time after we had moved into the Chevy
Chase house that I was called by Captain Charles Root, a Coast Guard
officer who had the title of Intelligence O fficer for the United States
Coast Guard. He was extremely Interested in developing anti*or
counter-intelligence work by the Coast Guard in its duties as one of the
law enforcement agencies of the Treasury Department. At this time, of
course, smuggling/(';ifqupr was beginning to be a (@®big time business.
Captain Root had been working with Harry Ansllnger, who was at that time
a vice-consul in Nassau the Bahamas. It—is—eectey the reader to under-
stand that the water routes back and forth between the Florida coast and
the Bahamas and also Florida to Cuba and back, was one of the highways of
liquor smuggling. These men tried to procure my husbands services. He
was very much interested in his work for the Signal Corps, for by now he

had done «Etch- development work in the field of inventions and had gone

far beyond anybody else of the day in the cryptanalytlc side of
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cryptology, that 1s, the solution of "enemy" codes and ciphers./fﬁe_ge,

/when my husband waehenavailable, my services were requested.“{g was |-y
44 L j ) ﬂ U._ o
-3

e A special agent»ts-someone who &oeés& not oo

A

have to conform to the requirements of office houra and the like, but is
RAANMALAAL

appointed a "special agent

expected to go wherever and be wherever h1&~eeentiﬁg
pursuit_ed the iavestigation on which he 1s engaged. For thls reason,

1t ceme about thet I was able to dg)\the workfAfor which I was requested

,xjet our Feme: In otheﬁyor@e,gﬁgfegm te'faptain Roots office, collected

menial;;»took @ ome am‘i. when 's‘c;lveld the material was returned / Oour
younger child was at that timey less than a year old, hence I hired a
nurse for the children. Her name was Carlotta and she was a lovely fine
girl. She and Cassle got along beautifully. Carlotta came at seven 1in
the morning and stayed until seven at night.

The Prohibition Amendment to the constltution had been established
and the law became effective on January 28, 1920, Numerous# books ha ¥
been written about the early days of rum-running, both by rum-runners and

.qbout rum-runners. It was at that time that the phrase, which is still
in our American 1anguage,"the real McCoy", came into existence. One of
the first and most famous of the rum-runners was Captain William McCoy,
who became faéggs&;or the excellence of the liquor he sold. Of course,
all liquor was claimed to be unput and unadulterated but during the
prohibition era this was nothﬁhe ruleg_gz;ggg_means' Although 1n the
early years of rum-running, New York and 1its vicinity even to the end of
Long Island, was a hotbed of liquor smugglins) ’k'great deal of this liquc
_ef—course, came from the Bahamas and for that reason Mr. Anslinger:;yéeg;
Gbnsul in Nasqﬁ%”had become almost fanaticelly interested in this-eiiéiﬁe
dealing. He had persuaded the Justice Department to establish a Bureau o:
Foreign Control and he hsd become the head of it. It was thugrtthat
Captain Root, of the Coast Guard Hesdquarters in Washington and Mr.

Anslinger worked together and at the time -Fhove—mentioned, I was called
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in to solve the secret communications of rum-runners. During the years
that prohibition had come into effect, the number-of-persons interested
48 the great profitsin this illegal occupation had attracted many persons
and operators. The Coast Guard,being the organizatioqﬁﬁt_;ezihad to
combat the rum-running vessels, had need of something more than just
patrol by Coast Guard veisels to operate effectively: against-_these rum=
runners, Captain Root, as the head of the .comewh=zt newly created in-

telligence office at the Goast Guard Headquarters, had,through Mr,

CAAA A t 4
Anslinger\come 1nto posseeeion of stray communications which ,in one
Aree n
manner or other,wee connected with the liquor smuggling on the east coast.

These. messages or communications weéi?t;;gkby any organized group but by
S eI A
operetore, ambitious men who aspired perhaps to be the Capones of the
» profitable game of rum smugglingg -encex the communications I solved
were scattered in origin. I recall a single long message which had come
to the United States by telegraph from Havana, Cuba., It, when examined
by me, revealed i{ Belf as a transpositlion cipher. Since this was the
only com%uniqation I had @P@8 between @B®@ these correspondents, there
wae Eg‘lﬁhi‘njgj—;& EA”:E my attempt to solve t*b—-e:ﬁdéé:tﬁftrial and error,
I remember ; very young Lieutenant in Captain Roots office,]grzally un=-
experienced in this fieldj?gsg;ested to me wheéél told him that it was
aiﬁolumnpr transposition cipher}as shown=by my analyeis}which could only
be solved by an infinite number of trials and that if I could guess a
keyword which migﬁt have been usedrthe problem would be simplified and
that it might be the only method of ever solving the message., In his
_ tun
G&nﬂeeence¥ the/%ﬁﬁ‘%uggested that probably the keyword Havana had been

used as a method of transposing the columns in the message, I laughed at

\F\-

him, saying that no one in his right mind would ever use as a keyword the
name of the city from which he was sending a message. However, the young
man was . proved right and I wrong because after I had worked a long time

1 AN

MG@@@@@ going tLrough the trials of solving the message by analysis, I



would
word., I decided right then and there that I @882 not permit my mind to

become so rigid as to exclude the obvious but that hereafter, I would try

first that very supBsition and thus clear é?ay the possibilifi;s that

secret
the sender of a @6fe® message had been so foolish as to employ a tool
Wide 'k .
of {he naive practices. / L cotrcnns & Arstlocn fo~y
S P A pur . ¢ g '_ Al - / mi ! i\'- Eiﬁff""lﬂ@
Although I had,{ errormed-ax-few—plece g Captain

Root and Mr. Anslingéf before 1927, this was my first official and more
or less permenant connection with the business of smuggling. The
Prohibition Amendment had now been in effect for more than seven years,
Neither my husband nor I had ever been consumers of alcohol except an
occasional glass of wine and therefore we were not among the people who
(] g;géngrohibition/insisted upon having their drink at all costy, @@ We
read the nawspapers, we heard mention of such things as bathtub gin,we
knew that in the very early early yearsﬁof prohibiyiog_there 3ad been a
oy A& L et |
widespread practice of procuring doe ors permits tlthe thirst of
resldents of the United States could not be Satisfied by this slow and

-L.-J'L'

laboqpus process, Thus it was, that the smuggling in of liquor frvmm¢hn
Sea routes on all coasts of the United States was begun dué%gg_/4 o B
rSince— 1838, New York, of course, had been the leading port of entry for
the smuggled liquor, but the whole Atlantic coast with its coves and inlets
1ts chopped waterline, with 1its many secluded spots where boats might
secretly dock and unload, created a problem which defia‘ deseription.

he country was a seething hotbed of irreverence and defiance for this
unpopular law., In spite of the fact that thousands upon thousands of
persons were arrested each year, that is, the "small fry", prohibition
became more and more ué%ﬁrcable as time# had gone on. The irony of this

\&’% 1t has been called by one writer, e dry decade;\Was that although

/
Prohlbition could not be enforced in the United States, bllls had been
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Introduced in Congress to require Prohibition in the Philippines and
several other places in the world where the United States had a supervisor;
control over the area. Thgxéébny e@—*his-igx that bootlegging was re-
ported to be very common in ;he halls of Congress. I quote from the book,
RUM ROW by Robert Carse, published in 1959, "the moral tenor for the
nation was set in Washington, where in the halls of the Capital and the
Senate Bullding, bootleggers busily solicited trade from the solons".
Carse goes on to relatek that liquor was delivered in broad daylight to
private clubs by uniformed policemen. He cites instances of this in

AT as
Chicago particularlyffffﬁ New York, the  sort of international headquarters
for rum row, 1t was sald that policemen made arrests at the rate of
fifteen thousand a month. These were not the big time operatorﬁJ o
course, but again the "small fry". PFrank Costello had been opcra%&ngwin-
the New York area as the head of a tremendous gang of operatives. It was
sald that Costello took his directions from Bill Dwyer, (this person 1in
later years was confused in the public mind with the mayor of New York).
Dwyer was serving time in the Atlanta penitentiary. He was a rich young
man, very well educated and an intimate, 1t was saild, of Jimmy Walker,
‘the then mayor of New York. When Fiorella Ia Guardia was elected to
office as mayor of the city of New York, he made s# a statement that
there were two hundred and fiftj thousand speak-easies in New York City
alone, Ia Guardia estimated that it would take two hundred and fifty

{-'&”
thousand policemen to enforce the law in New York and that it would

/\
probably take another two hundred thousand to keep the police in line.
The liquor, of course, which cesme in during the operations of such
persons as Frank Costello's gang plus innumerable individual operators,
was gobbled up with great eagerness by the dispensers of the alcoholic

drink and‘%ut usually about® five times before reaching the consumer.

However, the thirsty public drank the result and no questions asked.
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As I became more familiar with this game, I realized how a
consclentious officer like Captain Root of Coast Guard Intelligence
would become very eager to find means of alding the Coast Guard Job of
patrolling the waters in this fight against the rum smugglers. It was
estimated that the coast of the United States in 1its entirety meant
approximately nineten thousand miles of area which the small agency, the
/- Cosst Guard, had to patrol and protect in this battle:f%l-stated before,
hJJﬂ_that although I received my material :ng Captaln Root and returned it to
him, that actually I was appointed as alspecial agent of the Bureau of
Foreign Control in the Department of Justice, In 1928, however, I was
S\ 'transferred to the Customs %nvestigetive Service in the Bureau of Customs,

2A. rw.w oY WYNL2
Fetill nqﬁagfthe title of special agent, The Bureau of Foreign Control in

the Justice Department went out of existence as a result of Mr. Harry

Anslingers persuasive powers with Congress, whewhe-persuaded to establish
a 2l & ..)* \ . LA\ A\
@A R !/,I ) LA Al Lt 7 b/

ja new agency which would be called the Bueeau of Narcotics amd@ would be

another law enfcrcement agency of the Treasury Department in add tion to

LA A W
the five law enforcement agencles already there. Hence, I went to the

Customs Bureauy, In the years 1928 to 1930, I became familiar with many

of the rum smuggling operations in the Gulf of Mexicc area end alsc on the
P (I A ) X6V V= Lz Q,
j Pscific Ccast‘& ‘As the smugglers began tc take tc the air waves,%es a

_ 4 means of communication with thelr qganaxéves on land and sea, there were
- [ ,/l_'f;lf

three government agencies!*,bgﬁ¢o£ their own wireless intercept service.

S

“’ In addition to the Coast Guard, there was the Alcohol | &~ Ui T,
and the Federal Commissicn. As usual among government agenciles, there

W was rivalryy &Eny of the cases of those caught in this ramified game of

(;0 c o W€ Ot~
rum smuggling were the source of Jealousy and some suspicion among these

operating agenclies. The Customs Agency Service, however, went quietly
S on with their thorough investigations and concerned themselves not al all

with this inter-agency struggle or indeed, with wireless inter- il
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cept in any wayf wa?( generally speaking, the customs service for which
i f'u

I appeared in cases after arrest and=%tpéet of smugglers on the coast of

A

the Gulf of Mexlco and on the west coast. I appeared as an expert
s

witness in several cases held in Galveston,-es Houston, Texas,and New
Orleans, Loulsiana., I had also made a trip to@the west coast in the summer

Lra/vl i*t{tf’*flr—.
of 1928 to instruct shore operatives there against the Pacific-eperatu?h
who were, so to speak, of a different class from those on the Atlantic
coast, Indeed, in the latter case, the Atlaq?&c area between Florida and
the Bahamas was sporadic and scattered\égd the smuggling from the Bahamas

was very small potato 1ndeed, compared to the other areas. VIV IRELY MY

oML f ."

D BYA1930,hI—h&é—?&@ﬁuﬁdedfTEe Treasury Department e caia o Ui
\Fryﬁtoiogic unit should be formed and that young people with the proper
qualifications should be trained in this mental battle agalinst the
underworld of smuggling. The 1ldea was accepted and I found that I was
to head a small unit, the physical location of which would be in the
Coast Guard, the better to recelilve rapldly the wireless intercepts by the
Coast Guard radio staffs which had expanded greatly in the last two or
hoertgs rgn WA \LC
three years} M‘-@rthis unit woudd serve all of the law enfo;fﬁ:li‘t
bureaus of the Treasury Department. The unit was small 1ndeed,njhe
appﬁgﬁfiations forthcoming were only such as would pay for modest salariesyg
pFere two secretary-stenographers (I hired girls) and £ee four persons who
came from civil service registers, having passed examinations for one or
another analytical'science’ such as physics, chemistry, mathematics.
On such registperqxvl found no girls, hencey the four in this catfgory

WA O
hired were young men, seme were Jjust out of college and it was their first

btaﬂ.ﬂ(@ne e-f-i;;r;mé?fzﬁhl-ﬂs‘) had been a teacher for a sﬁoﬁ-tﬁge bofore.
i'ﬁ‘gﬁrecall that when I was compelled by the civlil service law to take the
highest person of the three names submitted from a given register unless
I could show cause not to do so. I had been forced to accept a young man

from New York City who was a "brain'. He was only 21 years of age,
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the civil service record showed, but he had a Ph]k degree from
Columbia University and he had made the highest grade that had ever been
made on a2 civil service examination in mathematics. He came to the office

was glven = desk and giwen a series of lessons Which I had u;epared to

_r‘_..fb. S e erpili

submit to these young trainees, Thex;quu begiﬂniug courses in the

solution of codes and ciphers without a knowledge of the keys or systems

used, {nty*were Simplg\ %hese preliminary lessoné‘and the answers to

L it (A
the questionﬁijﬁé;eﬁn\ were to be submitted to me in writing when finished
)
In the case.of this 21 year old P r I wa.s appalleq after the first few
) ALY ;.{;'-:'f'. 301l At Thtd W id not CorHAy

1essons to observe the fact tha't;\ne/ the Engnsh

languagej I called him in and talked“with hiﬁ personally, going over his
papers and explaining this and that, and then gave him the same lessons

to do over again. Within two days he was back at my desk demonstrating

no understanding whatsoever of the subject he was supposed to be mastering.

that instead @RPeCe@proposing to me a system for what he boldly

termed the indecipherable cirher., As you might guess from his history,

I( ()
 this indeclipherable cipher was based upon mathematical curves. When I
explained to him that it would be impossible to use such a system, either

—LA¢ p CAAT Al
by alr waves or cable or telegraph (PAPE-PHISTED 42 on machine)..........

in ﬂhﬂﬂ modern day would be of extremely limited use 1ndeed hé‘é;gued

at length with me}not accepting my statements in the least degree. After
this kind of thing had gone on for a number of days, I decided that it
was useless to atfempt to train him in this fielEE] I therefore czlled
the Civil Service Commission and explained and asked them to send me
three names again from the top of the register of mathematics, which was
done. In the meantime, I told the young man that he should resign, He
was quite recaleitrant snd saw no reason, he said, why he should resign.
I explained then that there was a very good reason!tleat 1f he resigned

his name would be returned to the civil service register and he would

still be eligible for any position anywhere in the governgment in the
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field of mathematics for which he was fitted properly,,@hat he was dﬁ&&é?
unfitted for this particular field. PFor a few days he obspiqaxely

stuck to his ground that he would not resign, but fi;g-ﬁekaig s$o$i?nd
left my office and the building. Within an hour or two I had telephone
calls from Capit@l Hill., He had gone to &—Oencressmen, his Congressman
from New York and also to one of the New York Senators and objected to

what he called my rugged treatment, These men turned him over to their

Imc’) e
administrative assistants fromlﬁﬁme the telephone calls to me had come.

Iy

(ArdlA C tA=e L ¢ L

I explained, patiently,ﬁpxact;y whatrEgd_happegeg‘gnd-ﬁhai wherein the
young man faileQ)indéeég:é;uiﬁ never-succeed £; £his particular field/
and’¥£ey were quite satisfied and I heard no more about this.

The #eu;f§oung men who came from physics, chemistry or mathematics
registeriwho then became regular employees of my unit, were able,
agreeable and cooperative, Two of them were still in my unit when we
were taken ovefyby the Navysin World WarlIEB in toto. Also, one of the

LA
girl secretarye had resigned to marry and had been replaced by an

extremely gifted young many who, although he had come in as a
. MAG M QT f

secretarx,proved the most ablg,su& persevering and generally gifted of

&1l of the young men who worked with me in this unit. I was assoclated

that,he having been-exempied.y

of coursey to holdtmm s commission during the war and being assigned to-

with him also 1n{th3¥%a¥.waskﬂ&nar:ﬁ“-J

this work, decided that he had better get his army service ever with, since
he WAS_—youNg enough-—to-be-subjeot to—the-draft.. He had been attending

e E— T st

college through all this period at night and had won his degree there

and as in other extracurricular actigities, had gained considerable

performing |a< o~ veVUES
distinction as a/pianist and$composer of reviews in the amateur muskecal
A am &

circles of George Washington University pr elsewhere in Washington,

After he had completed his army service, it came about that I was able
.!i‘l 2] f

sy of :
to place him in a~lim&%ed—&aea—e0-thi’fggld/crypto y and communications

with the nternationallﬂonetary khnd‘*here he has served with great
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success and distinctionlan&—ts—there-%o«xhisuday.as thsuhnaé-cf*bhe—-

CLO& Al s —+
n 4div1sion—of*that"tﬁternatipnalrorganizaticn.

M o g )
Many times I've been asked as to how my d&aaoxinnﬁ thet is the C

direction and superior status of a woman as instructor, teacher, mentor, |
and non-commissioned C

it |
!

and slave driver to men, even to ccmmissioned/officersl § ;
2. WA

:hougthese men,@ccepted my-autheridy, I must declare with a2ll truth theth

L worked g

with'ohe exception, all of the men young or older who have/for me and
tal. C &( R A_ALL A

under me and with me, have been mggﬁzggiﬁ£ulpand have never been

A

l

cbstruoticnists in any way. I recall particularly that just before ¢Iﬂ~

,ré

G AT o

‘whr;rin the period when the Treasury Department was responsible for the

enforcement of neutrality after the European war had begun and the

United States was not then at war, shat. I trained four non-commissioned.

Coast Guard officers in the work of classifying intercept correspondence
“:{ S e j}"",r' "* it
and in the processes of solution@wshex *heseﬂsen.v%en they were leaving
NG
at the end of their course, took particular pains to inform me that when

/-.

they had received their orders to report t y office for training that
they had had great misgivings) Lut that the two years training had been
one of pleasure and benefit and profit in every way and that they could

’not have asked for a more agﬂgasble supervisor or person in authority

'~ above themj It was likewise of the court officials and attaches,
ttorneys

the Judges and the United States @@30@®@8@, the Customs 0fficials, the

A AL

mang officials with whom I camein contact wibh at the time&SI was called

as an expert witness, that I have never received any Vthing but the ﬁ;hcst
eae courtesyrand in many cases gien admiration.\ Their astonishment at
the work I h-d been able to de—and-bring to a conclusion which was a
powerful means of supporting the battle they were fighting was,I thinkb
the greater because I was a woman. In fact, in all those areas, wherever
in this country or in Canada# I have appeared, I have found no jealousy

whatsoever of the fadﬁ that this success had been won by a WOman)Q?at

this or that feat had been accomplished by a WOmani in fact 1t was quite
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Few persons in the preeent day realize anything o the enormity of

the
the situation in the United States while/Vo lstead Act, which created the

S0 called_g;ohibition era, was in #ffect Pot I he government law en- '{

forcement agencies had no% more taste for it than the publie who lgved ;}

(L\\(ugéi\‘ WL~y
their drink, But the government officials, wasse who Were honest at 0

A e
least, had no choice but-is'pursue the rigid torturous paths of attemptinl
to defeat the operations of the criminal gangs who were so intent upon
mulcting the public. Theretiee-not only the far ranging gangg of
operatives under Costello in New York, but there was the’Trrrio—Capone
gang in Chicago. Capone was said to make from aé&ty'to one-hundred

million dollars a year from beer alone. Rum smuggling became the new

criminal occupation. Andrew Sinclair Jbetter known as the author of

FRIEND kf{*

W) ~

untversity and his university therej but-alse the author of PROHIBITION-

v
ERA OF EXCESS, a tremendous tope which he wrote after two years of

asslduous study in the United States upon a fellowshig, #s-he.describes

neadl
prohibition, iif%i%ame "the golden (

through which organized crimeg

ﬁ#gf insinuated itself into a position of incredible power in the nation".

There have been many books written about the roaring twenties“ the

rebellion of the young generation, the sex, the depredation, the excesses
il

of that period, the kind of life described®in # F. Scott Fltzgerald
novel, #+tIedw’ THE BEAUTIFUL AND DAMNED, All of these things were as

nothingJin my opinio%,among the contributing f-ctors to the decline 3{
w_,f-aol.‘\‘“
uprightness, if not to say morality in the United States, 4u===hnq~#o the
bqldly
criminal syndicates which flourished so widely, so and so freely,
! ) '_,,f_'&_h‘
because of the existence of theVblstead Act, ;af‘“g;‘v' plan S G
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‘J,L’/;nscientious though theﬁ?oiersﬁﬁh&%mboﬂin the government were, it is

true that it was a battle lost from the beginning. Purthermore, the

organization among criminals has never been broken up since their origin
Al St eflain
in thelEra of Excess as—$t—tscatled—by Sinclair,—4E This young man—
Volstead Act
states, "the P00@@EE@dBR not only placed a severe strain on U.S. courts

but it nearly burst the prisons with seventy thousand arrests in one
»
year 1in the New York area elone. , The U,S. Commissioner dismissed as a

f,/'*" f Ly
rule nine cases out of ten aq«fifty thousand cases a year,in order to

J;;;;”ﬁhe courts abde to @PGE work at all. There was also a great deal of
time spent in prosecuting prosecutors. When indictments did indeed

reach a court and a jury, the juries made acquittals the@¥®® rule,

In San Fransciso, a jurjfwas actually tfie&hiiéggijfor drinking up the
evidence. The Wickersham Report in 193 s Which surveyed the whole
matter of prohibition in this country,stated, "a law can only be en-
forced when the majority of people support the law",

Thie wie a %ery sméll fraction of the background with its myriad
reasons why the Prohibition-Amendment had to be repealed and the Volstead
Act wiped off the books, which occurred in 1934. Sinclair states, "the
preoccupation of the twentiesjh&;rsex and the liquor was displaced by
2 more baslc search for food". He was referring to the great depression
which followed the stock market crash of 1929 and was at its height when
President Hoover left the White House and Franklin Delano Roosevelt came
In for his first ferm. Sinclair ends, "a rebellion against reform can
only flourish on:Eﬁsyigfreet". It has been sald that America has the
strongest criminal classes and the weakest public s@ntiment against them
of any highly ecivilized people. Hence, it took a great depression to
arouse publﬁg sentiment against the cause, that is, the Volstead Act~ﬁmgf

ALYAALT AL

and thq\prohibition er%Hfor the fact that the great criminal gangs had

developed because of éhemu.)All thoughts were turned now to food and Jobs,

f Vs
:!. -
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the Washington Post had some recollections and comments

"Thirty years ago this Thursday, the United States p

" f "’ '] ’r'.,‘.p'v ’ ! " Ly E { K‘-. 5 | ;{ E P %/{\-

climbed bleary-eyed aboard a strange water wagon ending a fourteen year

un
binge @@d/surpassed in many of its aspects before or since" .

Utah had Just ratified the twenty-first amendment making the
repeal of the eighteenth amendment, that is, the Prohibition amendment,
as extinct as a Dinosaur. The oﬁ]&,Experiment" was dead., There had
been only two states which had not ratified the original eighteenth
amendment and finally %k@& saw their vindicatioﬁ,ﬂ Connecticut and

Rhode Islandg;

~abbatl

To quote the sef-u- article further: "The stata of the sober
industriousness the Valstead Aé%iénvisioned there was unleashed the era
of gang warfare and bathtub gin; of commonplace corruption @@ in high
places and of a national resentment no other single plece of legislation
had ever aroused", It was true that all during the Prohibition era,
drinking had been taken up as a kind of dare by the very young and the
very old, 'Wo classes about whom generally Speaking no charge of imb ing
anything beyond an ice cream sods would ever have been made before.

Now the fun of defiance was gone. As %rsays "with nobody around

to tell you you couldn't have one, an awful lot of the fun was gone",

My husband and I, during all those years of Prohibition, had had
no particular strong conviction on one side or the other,\bé were a bit
acquantances
disgusted with HEQES88@88BR, some of thenm even friends, af~muzs who spent
time at supper and dinner parties telling of how they created their
bathtub gin and how much of it they consumed. During all those years,
garever drinking we did)was on the two occasions when we were in

ALY A 0y cpd N« - T ‘éroc‘ T LA AR d I \
Europe We were in Europe in 1928 when my husband was sent by the United
A



States Government to Brussel Bel to International Telegraph
2; h&jﬁd{rcw
Conference as Executive Secretarxﬂof the United States Delegation; and

where
agaln in 1932 he represented the United States in a double capacity at

a very much larger and more ramified international conference ——The
International Radio Conference where ?}s positionnin the United States
Delegation was that of teéﬁﬁfcif_QJQQBQ;% euéteélthe same time he was
éhe United Statestgépresentative for the International Telegraph
Conference;4ffn 1927, the first international conference in the field
of communications, meaning radio and telegraph;-uae held in Washington,
This was near the end of the @3®8Coolidge administration, There were,

I believe,at that timey eighty-seven countries reprefentegfee—this
s DY ® o L
conference In Washimgton. My husband had written a-ynngh&eﬁ-g;blished

T"LL
by the government’ printing office, called " The History 05\ Code And Code

Language . In this publication, the title Code And Code Language is a
technical ene end is used properly to deseribe the medium which is used

) oY
are”ﬁﬁedfln order to transmit by telegraph radqucable eﬁe..vend.iiiﬁﬁﬁﬂ

even .'m the future in space, such as 8@ Telstar extended, 1f I may use-

sueh-a-termi— As with so many of my husbands contributions in the fleld

of communications, this publication was a "first"/amé 1t became a unique
and_ J R

item and—upuLn_xheexéme_i%uw&e-wr£353%5 even to this day, remains the_

standard | seeeaé It wae greatly in demand by foreign governments in the
‘ ok L/@' The s o
late twentiee«when international communications rules and regulations
to
became of 8 interest @OGE@ so many nations as the world became more

iInternational. Whereas, for e ple, in 1927 ther/had been only eighty-

geven nations represented at 5255 communications conference in Washington,

in 1932 in Madrid, there were more than a hundred governments which sent
Cal s

delegations to that conference which lasted from August to
eariy-

December, 1932, '



It had been quite easy for me to accompany my husband to Europe

in i?QS because as I have related before I was not a full time employee

i 4 VELENLNTT P

4%£;nyﬁ€ffice4 At home we had our marvelous Cassle, cook and housekeeper,
ﬁc.‘. lf- L}

who lived in the house and had been with us since before the birth of

our first child. Also there was present in our home/at that time an
s 4 A ‘. _Q

Englishwoman friend of ours whom we had met first at, Riverbankﬂ}n Illinois
who had become an American citizen and had done service as a yeomanette

in the United States Navy during World War One. She had come to

11\‘-5 (

Washington for a special six months engagament with 8 government depart-
ment. She was staying as a guest in our home and was devoted beyond

description to our two children as, lndeed, they were to her. With

this happy arrangement, ‘ye'were free to leave witg\}he official delegation
when 1t departed on the old\Iamous ship Leviathanaand—unxiiuour returnx d

o _'."

"Fr.? = o feer L
. of that year.&%&n 1932, the situation

about $6 the first of Becember
as far as our household was@concerned was quite different, our beloved
Cassie higfgled at the age@f 39 of cancer., We had at tﬁ;ﬁ time of the
conference in Madridﬂka housekeepermﬁlice, who also lived in our house

except for Thursdays off, and who was also a-ﬁong very fine person,

Ll_

But at this time I Was spending full time 1n office because 1n 1930 my
/( 2
office had b&aa physically located,in the Goast Guard Headquarters 1n

Washingﬁon for reasons stated aﬁou;naﬁﬁ - - was 1n offioe the whole day.
In thg;ﬁéfiwat that timey there were some crucial matters and I felt
that I could not go to Madrid with my husband when he left in August of
1932, However, I kept recelving messages from him, even from telephone
calls, urging me to come. Finally I had worked out a plan which would
enable me to go to Madrid. I made up my miq@}?hat I shéuld g0 one
Tuesday nightIT;jgdgﬁin the next two days I haduérranged affairs at my

office and at my homé, had packed up the belongings necessary for a

prolonged stay of my two children and housekeeper and had put them on a
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train for Detroilt, Michiggwaﬁd?re my sister lived. I, myself, packed [

S

and left New York on Friday, two?:dd a half days later. I crossed on € Z
the—TTe de FroNce, the old Ile de France, and went by train from =

eV &
A

Le Havre to Paris and from Paris to Madrid and Joined my husband on ‘
October 8, Here-@@®=2gain, fhe conference lasted a &eng‘ long time and

e

we did not return to Washington to rejoin the chlldren and the- housekeeper,

E:

who had been instructed to return and be at home on our arrival, until

two days before Christmas 1932,

o

In 1928, we had travelled elsewhere beyond 2 direct route to
Brussels and back to the USA because my husband, after hls duty with the
State Department of the International COnference 1n Brussels, was ordered 3,

-;{(u,_ " /
by the War Department to proceed to Scandinev&a-on some officlal x'd

business., We, therefore, went north by train,—cI—eourag, through Cclogneq;

and Hamburg, Germany. We spent sometime 1n Stockholm and stopped over d
RS X
in Copenhagen where, by—that—time, we hed friendsmet at the,lﬁternationallq

(ﬂgnferences. We crossed the North Sea from Denmark by boat to Harwich,

-

England and proceeded from thence to London where we met and did some R
— .
travelling about with frimnds from the conference who were @@at” that X

time in London. This was a contrast to 1932, where we were unable to doJ_H“

any travelling outside Spain and not as much of that as we should have

Joo
likddpxygth my husbands manifold duties at the &ua@conference, he was
confined *
much GGEEEELY, to MadridA Ne did pave such trips as were taken by bus or
AT T L ’f' NG 4 D ' AL L2 ,v’ o A A A R M [ !

private car going out from Madfid1limited only by such distancé as could “?
be traversed away and back again in the same day. Although the .
conference was not ended, semetime in November we %=

southern Spain. This was by way of returning home, since my husband
fett—and was given the impression by the War Department that he was belng
away longer than was desirable. We thereforq“\planned a few daysﬁ&n

Sevilla, Granada and others of the most interesting spots in southern
" IJJ . L ‘.__ " e 1 V/[ ‘I ‘ ,' { r ~- ' ’f 4 ',I ) 2 S, > L Uq_ﬁ‘ j.-.'-'- L."_ (L ™ ‘4(_ /L
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Spain and planned to take an American Export Line vessel from the port

C oML a_et
arb the Strait of Gibraltar. However, my husband received s message from

Madrid to return to the still unended conference. We returned@to Madrid
and later went from there straight to Paris and agailn returned home on

the Leviathae)arriving as stated before just two days before Christmas.,
/ { M B f* LAL ’

--f',- j:.r"- f
One of the fortunate |/ || to usy for my husband having been
N WAL T
apvointed to these international conferences of 1928 and 1932?\we had
been absent from the United States during all of the hysteria, the

,},J
Amcriminations, the bitterness, the ugliness of the Presidential campaigng
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By the time we returngsr of course, Franklin/Roosevelt had been elected
to office.

Dunine:Z;;se months, very delightful for the most part, which we

“4 had spent abroad, had at least for the time being wiped from our

thoughts the searing memories of the preceding summer ,When Washington

(“' |
was the mecca for the Army of tl;),e Unemployed. To my dﬁ/ ing day, I shall
WTaAa A 5§

~ .. never forget the picture éﬁ-my—memoﬂyno£—he¥§ig Watched with field glasses

-t il i

from the roof of the Army and/ﬂavy Country Club,,\the ridﬁ of Douglass R

() ‘f'r

MacArthur on a white charger féﬁg Pennsylvania Avenue, on- ?&s&e& the ~)

[ Capitgl and crossing the river to Anacostia. He was accompanied by other |

/[_Lf 2/ - _A
uniformed men on horseback and it seemed to us ;g ridd/iike a8 conquering
o
Napoleon' ig Anacostia where the unemployed, who were finding such refuge!

AL Ot AL &
as they could in shacks and tents, were driven from tﬁéirﬁ?helters by

the Army contingent and a fire was set to destroy their shelters,

D NS
k;%heugﬁa as thinking intelligent persons, voteless it is true by virtue

of residence in the District of Columbia, but still with opinions of our

douv T’
own, we had been very happy to see Herbert Hoover succeed the doer{?) and )

1aconic Cal Co®lidge as President. By the end of the Hoover regime,

cowering
‘however, I had a feeling thet of a2 man @@EREGE under his desk, as the



great engineer in the White Housey seemed to flounder in th’& all =~

absorbing problem of deprc:;ssion follpwing the stock market crash of
i 80 siorig—<y
1929, I relel in this connection l(\1\:]::31: I had even written my fa.mil:f. \[
rr

7%

L\ Vo dowait
q;he Presidential election in 1932

¢ WW Indiana family were

der
1-;(%1 bound Republicans Who had never. under an{ I%L:t‘bumstances vote:»ffor

Z ;gfu@)r ON Ot

any other ticketp g{he Oﬂly t{me a single soul out of the enormous

Smith clan had ever departed from the traditional Republican Party was
\\ [
when Teddy Roosevelt ran on the Bull Moose party in 1912, a campaign I

- Ly el )

y 3
although a child a2t the time, now reeall very well indeed}. As I said @
I was really taking a great chance of alienating them for a lifetime whe&}:
I wrote them and practically forbade their voting for Hoover in that 'Li:
election. \As I look back on it now, I realize that Hoover was one of '*3 =
the finést men we had ever had in the White House, /His stature yoday o 7%

aALA TUR, f-_’f-'{d_-*g;-./fw*'zc'_i.mk.“,t""- s ~as "'»’*“a‘l_og
as an elder statesman is_tm%‘o%%iés eminently qualii‘ied capacity to A = N
d A S o

88 in his later years'ai-tbw.gh_ha-ving been a rather ./
poor Quaker boy/ who,in the beginning of the h'dy day of engineering had V\

o

become so great a success in the engineering world, that he had made _-H
millions., I believe he is rated one of the three or four richest
Presidents this country has had in its entire history. But, by the end
of his four years in office,lI had becemf‘ig _sickened by the actions | L"-"-T
k which came about through his, I believe failure to act rather than “
ﬂﬂie‘ﬁ In other words, I feel that MacArthur was far more to blame | ")
}g{r the heertless,\treatment of the unemployed. I have never been 3 =
able,to this day, 'I:.o bring myself to believe that Herbert Hoover, :‘
g ’Q/uaker, humanitarian, excellent fatherx and famlly man', a;ui /irio;;eti/ for f\
3
\

his kindness and consideration’ of others, that he of all people

would ever have ordered the burning at Anacostia that I had witnessed | |
' a , N\ ¢
by -means-of field glasses from @B@@club roof in Virginia, —f=few-menths .

t . - -
{ ./ ( -".- LI 4 s
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in fact, a o sel ajority eretic
ip—saying-—se,/my impression fem=m of President and Nrs. Hoover in the

White House had beeﬁxﬁhat he was a far more considerate and thoughtful
person in respect to others than Mrs, Hoover. My impression of hisn

waﬁhthat he was a tremendously shy and sensitive person and the W&%es

of sympathy were felt} rather than the latter

having been expressed by him directly or in words. Mrs. Hoover, on the
other hand, impressed me as belng a Eereon who made use of what we now

call the creation of a public iﬁﬁge her n?tionalﬂgaﬁf with the |

(2= t"— hOA/S DXL

Girl Scouts and similsr activities./y rable ampuse-

ment a versonai—nunvursamtun—ap-the*ﬁhttv House e
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For many years I had been a member of the Lborad of directors.ﬁ
I had worked in both fieldsof my interest., I lectured and debated wlth i
the Netional Womens Party who were sponsoring the Equal Rights amemdment ;
which would, =2t least in those days, have wiped off the books all the ;
speclal legislation for the protectién of women for which we had fought
for so many years; I Worked also in the interest of the city of ;
Jashington. I neaded-h committee to make a study of the flinances 1in %
the District of Columbis, what taxes were collected and how, how the |
money was spent at the dictates of the House of Representatlves and the
Senate of the United States; I argued and fought both in the District
of Columbia and in the National Convention blennlal conventlions of the

National Lezgue of Yomen Voters for national suppert of the prime needs

of the District of Columbi=a,

Therefore, on the day of the inauguration of Franklin D. Roosevelt,;
I took our nine year old daughter with me to a speelal vantage polnt a2t
the corner of Flfteenth Street and Pennsylvania Avenue across from the
main Treasury bullding snd a left hand turn upon the inaugural parade
route., My purpose being there was@to distribute literature to all
passers-by or droppers in to the office which the lLeague of Women Voters
had rented forjust that purpose. I remember my daughter very well,
always a graclous and friendly child, she was a ardent worker that day
in paseing out the leaflets and literature and thus she herself 1n 2
sense was in the malnstream of the lnaugural parade. I recall that
nearing the time when the perade had turned right on Fifteenth Street
and was procecding forth, that I had taken her by the hand and crossed
Fifteenth Streset and proceeded to the bullding on the north side of
Pennsylveniz Lvenue directly facing the parade zs it would pzss at that
point within 2 block of the White House. I took the child to an upper

floor where there was a narrow terrace with a brick wall around two d



- “_7‘3"—:—-“@—’
sides of the bullding aand outslde the windows we climbed through a
window and from this upper floor whe was, with my help, able to
elevate herself sufficlently over the brick balustrade to view § zat
very close range the entire inaugural parade. ©She was then satlsfled,
ghe had seen an inasugural parade. Four years before, at the lnauguration
of Hoover, I had bought tickets for the grandstand in front of the
Treasury Department in the same block where she was lookling out from
an upper floor of & bullding and my son, my mother-in-lsw, and I had
sat through a drenching rain continuing for hours before the Hoover
inaugural parade had reached thzt point. Therefore, both children felt
that Mother had now done her duty, each had viewed an inaugural par=de
from one of the finest vantage poimts zlong the entire route., I remember
that it took my fur coat many weeks to dry after the experience of
sitting through the drenching rain of that day, March - 1928, Since the
Washington weather was always unpredictable and likely to be as bad or
worse 1n March than in January, the decision wae made laster to move the
inauguration back to January., Of course, the great length of time
between the election and the inauguration hz=d begun in colonizal days
because of the great length of time 1t took the Presldent elect and
other ggggéée to travel the distance necessary in those days. With
modern transport, the need for such a length of time had long since
disappeared. Now-a-days, of course, in the electronic age, thousands
of peorle attend the inauguration ceremony with chalrs placed on the
Capital steps for the VIP's and on the surrounding grounds facing the
steps for the lesser members of the public who, even though 1t be a
January day, go equipted with such preparations as 1f they were golng
to 2 football game 1n the late fall, Although for many years now, our
home has been on Capital Hill within twoB200R€ blocks of the Capitzl,
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4. my husbandﬁhave neVer even

A

walked to the Capital grounds to take whatever look possible on the day$
of any inauguration, we find it much more comfortable;thanka to the x;
electrogic age, to see it in its entirEFy on television rather than to F
exper#ﬁ%ﬁe personally only a tiny section of the beginning ceremony andﬁ
the parade theregftemn., In fact, with the two exception%k when I took .
first our son and then our daughter to an inauguration parade, I have L;;
never in my life taken any interest whatsoever in the parades of the “é%ﬂ
the near great, I have never been a hero worshiper nor an >

A

autograph seeker: ﬁsnae*bperhaps my attitude towards parades 1is related (| -

great,

to those attributes. I recall that at the time of King George and Queen :‘f

&

was - P~

Elizabethsvisit to the White House in 19.. , My office/located in a ;;¥
wlth a 'Q

building on the south side of @B8€ Pennsylvania Avenue @8 direct view |

of the ceremonial parade 1n %le~honor of theirﬁ*ajest}fﬂilll government
d- ' 4 '._
offices were closed for the day from eleven a.m. My husband and I -_{

chose to go to the Army and Navy Country Club in Virginia and remain =, 1
x.l.rkJL"_l\-‘.' 4 K

there until the parade was over, Hero worship @8@ has }ikewise never .
been something I have enjoyed when directed at me personally. I remember-

very keenly the annoyance which I suffered in Vancouver, British Columbié

when there in

eeeaer®a 1938 d a story was puZ}}.shed in the Vancouver newspapers
1o

about my participation in the Gordon Lymm narcotlcs case. Thereafter I

/ r'( !'kf‘ d

1

found that my life was not my own. In the Vancouver Hotel where I stayed -
? .
a rush of flunkles and bellhops leaped at me as I entered the door when

,I returned to the hotel and the attentions. poured upon me/ by everyone 1n

ARG = NbWU Sl el b FRLyY UG QUR LAY BEANXCA

the hotel from then on,{ecame so distasteful to me that I quietly moved

to another hotel and used the name of Mrs, William Friedman inste7d of
the professional name with which I aggg been connected at the«sazil%g'
hotel. This was true also of news storles written concerning me which
became so prolific after that particular case in Vancouver, There were -

many stories authorized by the public relations office of the Unted States
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| andJuy -ausband\have never even
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of any inauguration, we find it much nore comfortable}thanks to the
electronic a2ge to see 1t in its entirity on television rather than to
experinece personally only = tiny section of the begimming ceremony and
the parade thereafter, In fact, with the two exceptione, when I took
first our son and then our daughter to an insuguration parade, I have
never in my 1life taken any interest whatsoever in the parades of the
great, the near great. I have never been & hero worshiper nor an
autograph s~eker, hence, perheps my a2ttitude towards parades is related
to those attributes., I recall that a2t the time of Kiag George and Jueen
Ellzabeth‘svisit to the White House in 1S5.. , My office/;.(gzated in a
bullding on the south side of ®H® Peunsylvania Avenuewé;hﬂ?rect view

of the ceremonial parade in the homor of their pa jesty., All government
offlices were closed for the day from eleven z.m. Ny husbend and I
chose to go to the Army and Navy Country Club in Virginis nd remain
there untll the parade was over., Hero worshlip @04 has llkewlse never
been something I have enjoyed when directed 2t me personzlly. I remember
very keenly the annoysnce which I suffered in Vancouver, British Columbie
when there in

C1otEBTe 1938’éR‘ a story was published in the Vancouver newspapers
about my participstion in the Gordon Iynn norcotics cise, Theresfter I
found that my 1ife was not my own., In the Vancouver Hotel where I stayed
a rush of flgnw1es'and bellhops leaped a2t me as I entered the d-or when

I returned to the hotel and the attentions poured upon me by everyone in
the hotel from then on become so distasteful to me thet I quletly moved
to another hotel and used the name of Mrs., Williem Friedwan instead of
the professional name with which I cg%g been conaected at the earlier
hotel. This was true 2lso of news stories aritten concerning me which

beczme S0 prolific after that particulsr case in Vancouver., There were

3

many storles asuthorized by the public relations office of the Unted 5tates'§
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Treasury Department, and there were others completely unauthorized which

came to my attention from here and there which were offensive to mg,(lﬂluﬁ

/Hécause they were written in a lurid manner or because they contained
:assertions and statements quite untrueg I wrote a letter recording in
writing my protests to the Public Relations of the Treasury Department
requesting that thereafter no one but no one from the world of the press
or radio would be given permission to get so far as even an interview
with me, At that time, I supplied the Public Relations Treasury Chief
with the bare facts of my life and career and told them that they were
authorized to use them in anyway they deemed essential for the public
relations of the department., But as far as I was concerned, I felt too
uncomfortable not knewing from day to day what might be said about me in
some far part qf the world, for it had come to the point where un-
authorized stoﬁ%s were appearing even in the European press. Even this
MNeu o
did not stop the straight press storiea,‘somgtimes including p%%ographs
made of me during cases in court where I&é}ﬁtared as an expert witness,
Sometimes they proved to be somewhat amusing)such as a New Orleans case
where I spent several days on the witness stand. I appeared in press
stories as,, "a pretty middle aged woman", (with photographs snapped of me

'Tcl .
as I stepped ¢ witness chair one day -and_left the-court

e

~chamber) and the same-@gg in another part of the country I was described

as "

a pretty young woman in a frilly piek dress", I was still young
enough at that time to be piqued by the earlier description and annoyed
at the frivolous adjectives in the second. Although, as I have stated
already,jg;gziapallé;zgggz;ions in every Eiofgssional way had been @
more or less ef an equality with men, I fedt-that the fact that I was a
woman and that the field in which I operated was so unusual that the
press became-so intrigued with these two aspects of the case that they
lost sight of restraint. I do no? mean toﬁSay, however, that all my

1 ,
relations with journalists were .lﬂ~t _A ‘

/



TAPE #12 (resuming remarks RE: PRESS) ) /{/

I find that as I go over the limited number of press stories that I still
have in my possession, that I have kindly memories, speaking generally, of women,
both interviewers and feature writers, Among them Carol Frink of the old WASHINGTON
HERALD; Mary Hornaday of the CHRISTIAN SCIENCE MONITOR; Alice Hughes, the NEW YORK
TIMES; the brief mentions by Malvina Lindsay; a story by Bess Furman of the old
WASHINGTON TIMES, presently Public Relations Advisor, Department of Health,
Education and Welfare; feature writer%K.Mary Jane Brumley of the WASHINGTON STAR;
Katherine Kellock, SUNDAY MAGAZINE-WASHINGTON STAR; Leah Stock Helmick, whose
lengthy story won a READERS DIGEST prize, Of this latters}story, an abbreviated
version was first published in the AMERICAN LEGION magazine, Since{E; those days
it was a practice of the READERS DIGEST to appear at least to fulfill their

claim of only re-printing from other magazines or sources.,)

One man among the press who was a respectable and copperative interviewer,
carefully staying within the territory of safety and exposing nothing beyond the
point he was requesteq)was*‘h. H, Williamson of the Vancouver, British Columbia News
Herald. The men for whom I still feel a flash of irritation, after all these years
were: Theodore Adams of the AMERICAN MAGAZINE-"People Section'; Fulton Lewis, Jr,
of Washangton, D.C., a thundering, blaspheming, ill-bred blundeq%nfgto forbidden

.

territories such as I had never met before or since; and Pat Frank, the new very
A

P

respectable novel writer, book interviewer, whose name is* seen constantly in the
National Press, but who, iﬂ-aaauiiﬁét;hose days, was struggling for a foothold
anywhere € could grab it and permitted his name to be used as the author of a
feature aff&cle in the ATLANTA CONSTITUTION which was one of the most luriq*,hodge-
podges of misinformation picked up from headlines and scraps of information -he—had.
culled from other sources, locked together in a revolting mass and sold qg as a

respectable feature story, ‘But-then I would have expected that one of the few

Bl
respective newspapers in the south, the ATLANTA CONSTITUTION, would have had better
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judg§$ent than to use such an article., So part of my irritation falls upon the
head of this newspaper as well as of the writer.-Ldﬁe of the fictions which some-
where, somehow]first appeared as a statement and then was perpetuated thereafter in
a manner most annoying to me and which must have been extremely annoying to my
husband, was the idiotic statement that I, this "wizard of codes and ciphers' had
taught the science to my husband. Of all the unfounded statements made concerning
me in the public press, this was the most confounding, Although I took every
possible opportunity of reputing it, it kept appearing here and there in press
stories up to the time of World War Two. As I had related before, we began at the
same time in this field of analysis. We were teachers of ourselves, simultaneously,
v

" as well as of $others, we were merely the leaders. This rédiculous story of my

having taught my husband was still appearing many years after some daring imagination

T id ‘ “ I"-.k L4 Lo g A R

had first perpetrated it, for there was sent to me from Léndogﬂby'someOﬁe unknown’

to m%)a clipping from the DAILY SKETCH of London, repeating this off.told fiction.

P “.To return to men of the press, there was a widely printed
press story with a by-line, Morris Gilbert, which first appeared in the New Orleans
ITEM in 1933, He was listed as a NEA Service Writer. Although he had never inter-
viewed me personally, he must have witnessed my appearance in court in some southern
state, but unlike other press writers, he had stuck to facts and not woven fancy
around those facts,jATo return to one of the irritants in this field: one day as I
sat at my desk in Washington, very busily engaged in some analytical work upon papers
on my desk, with head down in deep concentration, I suddenly became aware of a
presence, a something in my vicinity, Startled, I looked up and a few feet from my
desk there was 8 poised a camera aimed directly at me. The camera was before the
eyes of a pudgy fac?}gf'the hea%k on top of a pudgy but tall body, and a brash some-
what belligerent voice burst upon me from-this_body saying, "just a moment, just a

moment", I stood up from my desk and turned sidewise almost with my back to this

interlorper and said, "who are you and what do you want?" Whereupon he began pouring
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(3) P{/ff_,
forth a torrent of words stating that he was Fulton Lewis, Jr., gave the name of the
paper or%news service he claimed to represent and that he must have the story and
these photographs of me, I signaled to someone in my office to send for help and
while I maintained my determination that he would receive neither photographs nor
story, one of the officers from the intelligence office came up and told this brash
young man that he must leave, For sometime thereafter, I expected almost any time

to have some vengeful story or terrible photograph of me (of which many had appeared
already which had been taken without my knowledge) and thus he would have his revenge,
but at this time the Treasury Department was beginning to crack down on unauthorized
press stories about the law enforcement agencies of that department, And it is

Yy

possible thatfyoungﬁFuiton‘Lewzs*was told that if anything appeared which had not
been authorized by éhe public relations press-man-in-the-office of the Secretary of
the Treasury, that he would be banned henceforth from the Treasury. I did know

of this having happened in other cases. ** An instance of this was brought to my
startled eyes in February, 1938, I bought on a train one day a current copy of
LOOK magazine; it contained one page of photographs of women whose brief biographies
were listed in the just-published first edition of the feminine WHO'S WHO-
(naturally without photos). LOOK had selected a page full of women '"whose careers
were unusual', in the opinion of Durwood Howes, editor of the volume AMERICAN WOMEN,
Years later when sorting scrapbook items, I came acrps§ the source for the photo-
graph - a crayon drawing of me made by a leeal artist;h No credit was given by

LOOK magazine,

One amusing incident in connection with the press stories which was noted by numerous
friends amd who called it to my attention. The WASHINGTON TIMES of September 28th,
1933, showed a photograph of President and Mrs, Roosevelt, she with no hat and he
with a hat on, with the headlines "President and First Lady In New York". For some

reason or other, whatever story was meant to have accompanied this photograph, was

completely non- exlstﬁnt there was no story anywhere in the paper which followed up
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with above headline, But immediately adjacent to this photograph and extending

(|

(

exaFtIy the same length in the column was a story with the hegdline, "Dope Capture
ﬁgd;[To Woman", and there followed a brief story to the‘eééﬂrthat a Washington
woman had been responsible in "outwitting the master minds of an international
narcotics smuggling ring". The story was a Universal Service press story Eff
eéiﬁgting from San Frangisco where the brothers Judahand Isaac Ezra had been
arrested for extensive operations in smuggling narcotics earlier# that year and,
at the time of this press story, had been sentenced to twelve years in prison,
The press release from San Francisco had said that the woman who had solved the
mass of correspondence had not been revealed in the tpdﬂi, rather they put it
"the woman whose name was withheld", however, the Washington paper appeared in
connection with my name, I had not appeared personally in the ttéﬂi against the
Ezra's in San Francisco because it was completely unnecessary:sinee there was such
an enormous mass of corre5ponqﬁ§Ce wherein the evidence against them was so

. completely conclusive and so easily demonstrable that my appearance on the witness
stand was quite unnecessarﬁ;aﬁgtold in the”iggiion relating to the Ezra case, ol
the Treasury Attache in Shanghai, China had supplied literally volumes of information
and evidence.‘(FOOTNOTE: There was another instance of the amusing coincidence of

headline and photographs in the case of R, Young A » whose photograph in a , <&«

4
1¥h;éﬂ;;gugcgown under the cherry trees by the tidal basin, the cherry blossom
festival in those days being a simple sunrise ceremony on the grass by the”;;ﬁal
fggsin, and this appeared in a size which almost filled the front page of the DAILY
NEWS, Washingtons tabloid newspaper on 19 . But the top eof the front
-page of this same front page had in a~headline, im a black headline two inches high,
"War Warning To Dictators". The reader whose eye as he walked by a newsstand would

catch sight of the headlinef, stop and as he looked down the page see the large

| photograph of a lovely young girl in a dancing costume,
1

Aelee.,
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In May of 1934, I was one of the women selected by Miss Margaret Santry,
a radio reporter for NBC, who made a series of broadcasts called "First Ladies Of
The Capitol™, She had first covered society with a capital S, then wives of

government officials and later career women in government service whose work was

in one way or another unusual. I find that I still have a carbon copy of the

seript for the radio interview, NBC had been very generous about permitting

me to bring our youmg son and daughter to the studios where they remaind in the
room where the technicians were instead of in the studio where Miss Santry and I
were, thus the children got a real conception of how a broadcast over a national
network was carried through. It so happens that my husband was on duty with the
Army Signal Corps in Kansas on some early summer maneuvers, His absence from
Washington, however, did not prevent his hearing the broadcast because he was,
of course, in an ideal situation since commmications is the business of the
Army Signal Corps. Within a day or two following this, the script of the interview
was reduced and made into a news report and this was published in the WASHINGTON
POST on May 26th, 1I've never known whether the National Broadcasting Company
or the WASHINGTON POST was responsible,but this POST article was accompanied

by a reproduction of a crayon drawing made of me by a local artist named Davis

while Miss Santry was in the process of preparing for the B#A68@ASE€Y broadcast.
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Of course, as the war in Europe broke out in 1939 and for sometime before,
there had been extreme censorship of the press. However, there were efforts made
by the press as always to obtain stories with the coveted "inside" information.

I think that I have related elsewhere that it is the duty of the Treasury Department
to enforce neutrality until the United States is actually in war, hence, from '38
through '41, my office was the eyes and ears for Henry Morgenthau, Jr,, the
Secretary of the Treasury, whose duties#égﬁﬂin addition to domestic law enforcement,
comprised also the enforcement of neutrality. The radio intercepts increased into
the thousands because the intercept services of the Treasury Department were

expected to cover all Atlantic Ocean ship traffic from whatever type of ship might

be crossing or in the water anywhere............(END TAPE #12)

PICKING UP END OF (TAPE #12 ) Recorded on Tape #13 Requested break of lines...
iessTraffic ha&lto be sorted, classified and if any text appeared which needed
solution, it was our business to solve it if possible, Henry Morgenthau, who had
been appointed by President Roosevelt to be Secretary of Treasur% was a very
conscientious man I am sure, and set out to do his very best by every deﬁartment
or activity whose bﬁsiness was the responsibility of the Secretary of the Treasurf.
Secretary Morgenthau brought with him to Washington a woman administrative assistant
by the name of Mrs, Henrietta Klotz. In all my years of dealing with government
officials and with women,in manﬁiksf not most walks of life, and with men who

were both superior and inferior to me in rank, bue I had never had any contact
with anyone of a long list of persons who had impressed me so unfavorably as Mrs.

Klotz. She was a very small woman with an obvious feeling of tremendous insecurity

which was revealed in her manner by the use of rapid fire dictator-sort of requests
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which, of course, issued from her as}peaae&ay'orders;}f%;-used to have a saying in
our office, that we always knew when it was four twenty-eight in the afternoon
because the telephone invariably rang at fourﬂ;wenty-eight or four twenty-nine,
the closing hour being four~thirty, and it would be Mrs. Klotz on the phone with

- s e L&
some snappish order from Secretary Morgentﬁ;;V;hibh—always had to be executed by
nine o'clock the next morning and ready for his perusiﬁg)even though her order might
cover a demand for a report of a nature which would take at least three months to
prepare. There was no use mentioning this fact to Mrs. Klotz, her order was a
royal comménd. I recall that once when I attempted to explain to her while she
was still issuing the telephone order that it would take a number of personsy a
number of weeks to fulfill her demand, whereupon she said to me, "shut up you fool",
It is comforting, I hope to the reader)to relate that Secretary Morgenthau usually
called the next morning and remanded the order, unless it was one which could be
completed in a given amount of time, But he himself was not the person who demanded
something of magnitude to be produced as of yesterday. Mrs, Klotz intrigﬁﬁéd my
psychological curiosity, therefore, when I saw her at receptions at the Morgenthau
home, T used to attempt to engage her in coneersationg to find out something about
her which made her tick, However, it was hopeless, Henrietta Klotz was just as
insecure at an afternoon tea or .om a social occassion as she yas when operating as
the official administratéye assistant to a Cabinet officer?wéff was during the
Morgenthau regime that the six 888 law enforcement bureaus of the Treasury Department
were placed under one advisory-operating chief, He was to be called the Chief
Co-ordinator, Law Enforcement Agenties, Harold Graves acted for a time as this

Chief Co-ordinator, but not long after, Elmer Irey was appointed and served in this

position as long as I had dealings with the Treasury Department,



For the first three or more years after Franklin D, Roosevelt became

President, and. during the beiﬁnning years after repeal of Prohibition, my office
{ XL '\Ml{\
was busy with the backlash of the Prohibition era., With such vast amounts of

money and large organizations as had been operating in the smuggling era, all
activities could not cease and it was physically impossible for the smugglers

to wipe out and cast into oblivion the results of their past operations,
lia P

g, i /
Consequently, cases still arose for agmetimg.thereafter,fonly the most important
(/

and w1th the most far reaching implications reached the courts, but there was still
[
much action to be taken:%fﬁaglng the year of 1933, I appeared as a witness in the

L :
Byrt Morrison case, as it was known, in New Orleans. Burt Morrison was the land
e

agent for at first the Pacific and then the Gulf Coast of the United States, acting

—— e

for the

"Company which—T have alreaﬁy mentlene& as the Consolidated
A 4\

Exporters Corporation of Vancouver, knewn in tlegraph and wireless communications
as CONEXCO, This so=called Byrt Morrison casey was considered so importanty that
Colonel Amos W. Woodcock, Special Assistant to the Attorney General, conducted the
case himself for the prosecution. He stated at the time § oflthe trial that the
federal government had spent five hundred thousand dolla;su:;=0neayear in preparing
the case, If I remember rlghtly, th1s was the only case agalnst smugglers where my
work was instrumental in brlnglhg 1nd1ctments agalnstFQﬁrt Morrison and twenty-two
—— .

cods défendants. : ﬁg*that I w%sj§e?t to New Orleans to testlfy before
the ér;nd Jury as an expert w1tnes§¢and then agéln)when the case came to tr1al '
Colonel Woodcock stated in a letter to the Coast Guard that he did not believe it
would have been posgible to win this case without my testimony. Colonel Woodcock,
a nationally Rﬁﬁé:ﬁgttorney, had been at one period Director of Prohibition for the
United States government., At the time of the preparation and trial of the case
against @ﬁfr Morrison et al, Colonel Woodcock had been recalled to the government
as Special Assistant to the Attorney General for the tifill of this case. Bure

\\ .
__Morrison had been operating as the land agent for Mexico in Belize, British Honduras
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and from there inse-various places on the Gulf Coast of the United States to make

C ) -~

arrangements for the selling, shipping and landing of liquor. His cede defendants

in New Orlear‘zs were the people who aided mr or @ another phase of these operations,
3 N\
\\ '1 Y

either at sea$;ransfegeng liquor to small boats, taklng it into land and then

;’ t
disngSQRg the cargo according to prearranged plans. At the end of the case, Burt
Morrison and the other -case defendants all received maximum sentences and large, really
considerable fines, all of which were later sustained by the Court of Appeali
One newspaper item which appeared in #papers throughout the south and in
briefer form throughout the country, related that in the course of the case when I
was introduced,that the defense had objected to my appearance.
{ . "Seven Defense attornies jumped to their feet and protested in behalf of
the twenty-five Hefendants on trial that Mrs. Friedman's translation was a matter
of personal 0p1nlon.\\Judge Charles B. Kennamer ruled that she was an expert at a
science
geepefee and permitted her to testify."
wne@aeﬁs@ﬂeaﬁ@eneae@an\
The news item went on to say, "Mrs. Frledmanxzzzﬁéiated one message as reading,
ordered transfer of a liquor cargo
'0UT OF OLD COLONEL IN PINTS'. Another she said, G@RBEBBD@EE&HSEEE@@E@ﬁ@n!@ﬂ@ﬁ@@ﬂﬂﬁ@@
from one ship to another on the high seas".
FROHCENECBHERPCTOCANQVEERCONCTHECHEGECBEABLEE
I recall meeting this charge by the defense council in a number of the cases.
The attempt was oftep made to throw me out of court, so to speak, by claiming that
what I produced as plain language for the messages, was merely a matter of personal
opinion. Another instance of this was carried even further in New Orleans edactly
f g
vl \
one- year later from the Byrt Morrison conspiracy trial, ©ther defendants in 1934,

wexe charged with conspiracy, numbered fourteen4,4g}l had been associated in the

Consolidated Corporation activities on the Gulf Coast, At this time (END TAPE #13)
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Tape #14 >,
Continue B, Morrison Case ' ' =
New Orleans 1933

“The press—elippings which-T have concerning that-case, I-think-that I have—
ai;o;dy_mentiﬁﬁiaﬂfﬁﬂgaﬁé‘Eiféﬁ?\\apparently numerous press people were present / %
during my testimony because all over the country news articles appeared in which
it was stated that I had been cross-examined by the defense attornies and the ;im -
number of defense attorn%éthiffered widely in the varying accounts. The ATLANTA '-ﬁ?‘f
JOURNAL of May 3rd, 1933, stated, " Seven defense attorﬂits jumped to their feet

and.protested in behalf of the twenty-five defendants on trial, that Mrs. Friedman's '“hi

a v

translation was a matter of personal opinion. Judge Charles B. Kennamer ruled that \
she was an expert at a science and permitted her to testify. Mrs, Friedman translated':k
one message as reading: 'OUT OF OLD COLONEL IN PINTS'. Another she said, ordered
transfer of the liquor cargo from one ship to another on the high seas."

A New Orleans paper of May 15th, 1934 stated as follows:

"Testimony of Mrs, Elizabeth S, Friedman, Chief Cryptanalysikgﬁ;;ésury

Department, Washington, who decoded wireless messages ,-&add during the alléﬂged

rn\ f: \ I\

conspiracy, was the high point of yesterdafg session, pretbr ¢ v

e

Asked why certa1n "b1anks" appeared,iﬁ’her translat1oﬂ'of ‘the code messages,

Mrs. Fr;eﬂ;an rep11ed that, 'I may be an expert on secret writing, but I am not
an expert on names of liquors. Those blanks concerned cargoes of various types

of liquor." .,

NEAA e
ﬁmahme: "CLASS IN CRYPTOLOGY, Mrs. Friedman at the instance of the

government attorney, Norman, conducted a class in solving code messages illustrating
to the jury with a blackboard how_experts, translate into plaln lgnguage the most ol K :

pradfs & oAt L L 7 ( & o A
complex of code and c1pher.IQASKﬁd_h¥—xhg—defﬁn56‘attorney, Edwin TF“{hHUthilf the .

Friedman replied that,-ence any particular.cipher system-is wvrked out, 1o dodbt .

can.be- entertained as “to any-single word appearing in a sgntencavw- _Zi"‘ """ i

et 2 e =’
z 'F‘-—"L‘ bt =T = LA L .; .'f',.__a.. »1
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You can get any other expert in the United States,said Mrs, Friedman, and he
would translate these messages precisely as T have dome, it is not a matter of
opinion, but a matter of science, 0(ne message concerning a carge of liguor
translated by Mrs, Priedman cencluded with the words, 'suggest give Crace case',
Edwin H, Grace, :2?u1th Rebert B, Todd in defending the wmen, maintained after
yesterdays session, that the message referred to the case being tried in court,
although attaches of the court, the jury and others who smiled when the passage,
was read apparently took it to mean something else."

I recall very well the conduct of the €8288 class, as it was referred to in
the foregoing news item, The defense attornies had more or less napgingly continued
questioning for sometime trying to trick we in one way or another and one of the
things that they hit upen was to state that the names of liquors which I had used
in the decipherment of the messages were not produced, It appeared by the same
method as the general body of text, I sought an opportunity here to silence the
cross-examination in a decisive manner, I turned to the judge and said, your
honor, is there a blackboard avasilable to the court, The judge spéke to the
marshal and the defense attorney directed the marshal to bring in a blackboard,

I was very 882 quickly able to demonstrate the validity of the cipher method which
had been used for the names of liquors in wmany of the messages because that method
was simple monoealphabetic encipherment, For example: THE OLD COLONEL has three
el's and three o's. I put the words OLD COLONEL on the BR8ERAB6# blackboard in
caps and placed beneath the letters their cipher equivalents, thus the three o's
were shown in each case to be the identical cipher letter and the three el's
likewise, E, the most frequently appearing letter in English and therefore is
usually represented by the letter which appears wost oftem in a frequency cable
of any mono-alphabetic cipher, was present here only once but there wore dther
names of brands which of course contained one or more aprearances of the letter E

and by quickly looking through the sheets of paper before me from which 1 had
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testified, my eye was able to catch quickly brand names which contained more than
one occurrance of the letter E and also the word alcohol with el's and o's which 1
when put upon the blackboard revealed the same cipher letters as had been used for

the el's and o's of the OLD COLONEL which already had been placed on the blackboard.
that '
By this time the defense attornegyes were nervously indicating wimmy they had had ]
proof and not black
enough of this black and white proof, that is, the blackboard S£884880RERE0EREH

N ’ N n . T e

mj__"_hft:_gh,i,s.kgyé oA Cmu dpnESn § G I bAoA e
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This demonstration in the court room by a blackboard seemed to set the press

short
on firc }\Hhila I pursued my business quietly in New Orleans, both@88€€ and long

articles were appearing in the press all over the country. Although T had not
spoken with any reporters and in fact could not have distinpuished reporters in the

=
court room from any of the gemeral public, apparently they were there because o

where, Alfhough 1 did see some of the items in ths New Orleans papers while I was
in that(city, d N

This was a conspiracy case. I had been told throughout my work in this fiel
for the government by the legal associates with whom I had worked, that the charge

of conspiracy whatever the background or specific conspiracy is, is by far the mos

av“u, X"
w 1,

difficult of charges to prove. Therefore, I was not surprised to learn from the ne
papers, in this case, I being excluded from the court room until I was called upon T
to testify whatever knowledge I had) did come from those either prosecuting or g‘
observing the case, ﬁs I ::::, I learned from the newspapers, for example in-rﬁp\ §~\‘§\_
New Orleans Eu of May 2nd, 1933:

"The conspiracy case against the twenty-five defendants was made at a cost

2
took more than a year to make., The charge is, that the ring leaders, Burt Morris

of about five hundred thousand dollars to the government, it was learned today, andd

and Goldburg, and the o'Neil Brothers, Joseph Merchant employing the

other defendants, operated a syndicate which owned a fleet of rum ships, hundreds o ) ]
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trucks and several wireless stations and shipped millions of dollars of liquor
through New Orleans and this vicinity to the middle West and East.,"

The same article mentioned me as the star witness, "of the so called million
dollar rum conspiracy"™. The spaper raportod_aL the time I had\peen sworn
and was sitting in the witncﬁzl::a::&:hqf, t\\‘\\ \\:sv

' \ c are

attornies for the twenty-fivedefendants in th&\gonspirncy

Friedmang's testimony on the ds that her‘¥¥unslaxion of\ the
messages was a matter of personal opinion., But ge Kennamer h;}Q\:fth her that
she was an expert at a science." (Italic )

This same observation was reported in other newspapers, as for example, the
follwwing day in the ATLANTA JOURNAL, which also quoted the instance of the reading
of one message OUT OF OLD COLONEL IN PINTS - the message which had lead to the
blackboard demonstration $heretofore described, Truth of the important gﬂgt
Morrison case is brought forth accurately in the following quotation from a letter
addressed to the Secretary of the Treasury from Amos W. Woodcock, the celebrated

lawyer who himself lead the governments case against the smugglers organization.

T quote,
to

"I am taking the liberty 8f bring to your attention the unusual service
rendered by Mrs, Elizabeth Smith Friedman in the trial of the largest smuggling case
which the bureau of Prohibition has made during the last two years, I prosecuted
the case in the Unitaﬁ States District Court at New Orleans,

Mrs, Friedman was summoned as an expert witness to testify as to the measning
of certain intercepted radio code messages. These messages were sent to and from
Belize, Honduras, New Orleans, and ships at sea. Without their translations, I do
not believe that this very important case could have been won,

Mrs, Friedman made an unusual impression upon the jury. Her descriptions
of the art of deciphering and decoding established in the minds of all her entire

competency to testify, It would have been a misfortune of the first macnitude in

Ty
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the prosecution of this case not to have had a witness of Mrs, Friedman's
qualifications and personality available."™ END LETEER

The case is referred to at some length in a memorandum from the intelligence
officer at Coast Guard Headquarters to the Commandant of the Coast Guard., There
are stated here truthfully and forthrightly, not only the matter of my appearance
in the foregoing important case, but also the importance of the Coast Guard
Cryptanalytig Section as the only agency with its purpose in the entire government
outside the Army and Navy.

"There is attached hereto for your information a letter of appreciation
from Colonel A, W, Woodcock, former Director of Prohibition, to the Secretary
of the Treasury, highly commending the work of the Cryptanalysis Section at
Headquarters in general and the work of Mrs, Friedman, Cryptamalyst in Charge,
in particular . . .

The Consolidated Exporters Company is by far the largest and most
powerful international smuggling syndicate in existence, controlling practically
a monopoly of smuggling in the Gulf of Mexico and on the West Coast. More than
two years ago Special Agents of Prohibition raided the headquarters of the
syndicate in New Orleans and began an investigation of the smuggling activities
of this syndicate of nearly two years duration at a cost to the government of
several hundred thousand dollars. More than one hundred persons were indicted,
including Bert Morrison and the ring leaders of the agency of the Consolidated
Exporters Company, the headquarters of which were in New Orleans, from where

smuggling activities were directed throughout the Gulf. The case against the

, ring leaders of the syndicate was a criminal one, the charge being conspiracy,

and it was absolutely essential to connect these ring leaders with the actual
operations of the smuggling vessels, There was only one way in which this could
be done and that was through radio messages in code and ciphers originating in
the office and illicit radio station of the Consolidated Exporters Company's

agents in New Orleans, which show that the defendants actually directed the

movements nf the smueoline vessels.
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Hundreds of radio messages in code and cipher between the rum running
vessels and shore stations had been intercepted by the Coast Guard Intelligemce
Office in Hobile and many more were seized by the Special Agents when they raided
the headquarters of the syndicate in New Orleans. All of these messages were
forwarded to lleadquarters where they were deciphered, decoded and systematized
by the Cryptanalysis Section, Vhen the United States Attorney went before the
Grand Jury for an indictment, Mrs. Priedman was sent from Headquarters as a
witness, and when the case came to trial a few months ago, Mrs, Friedman again
went to New Orleans as a witness for the prosecution, and, as it developed, the
star witness. It is unnecessary to elaborate on Colonel Woodcock's statement
that without the work of the Coast Guard Cryptanalysis Section and Mrs. Friedman's
expert testimony, he does not bel& that this very important case would have
been won, I meplected to state that the case was of such importance that Colonel
Woodcock, former Director of Prohibition, was sent to New Orleans as Special
Assistant to the Attorney Gemeral to prosecute the case in person,

It is an interesting commentary on this phase of law enforcewment that the
Coast Guard is the only agency of the Government connected with law enforcement
which has such an extresely valuable section, The Department of Justice has no
such section , . .

The Bureau of Narcotics and the Bureau of Customs, Department of Justice,
and other agencies of the Government, frequently send codes and ciphers to this
office for solution, .which was one of the aims when the umit was established --
that of making the Coast Guard known as the law enforcement agency of the
Governgment, in control of radio intelligence and cryptanalysis,

The letter of Cclomel Foodcock to the Secretary of the Treasury indicated
that this aim is being gradually achieved,

It is suggested that the attached letter be filed with Mrs, Friedman's

record in the Chief Clerk's Office, v
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- extremely jmportant feature., Therefore, I, unfortunately, too often
- { gl lf. b
¢ accuracy in others and after this important case was ended and I returned to

A

Washington and newspaper clippings appeared from here and there over the coumtry,

In a business such as mine has been, details and accuracy in detail; ESQZZEELV

I was somewhat annoyed to observe that in this New Orleans case the defendants were
variously twenty-three in number of perhaps twenty-five, even twenty-seven;

that the number of attornies who had jumped to their feet and demanded that the
judge rule out my testimony as a matter of opinion were seven, but other news items
stated there were nine. These and other slight details are doubtless quite un-
important and certainly had no affect on the outcome of the case., The news item,
however, which really annoyed me were those appearing in the ATLANTA JOURNAL from
May 3rd to the 6th, 1933 because of the headlines attached to them. One headline
read, "NEW ORLEANS COUET FREES EIGHT OF TWENTY-FIVE TRIED FOR RUM CONSPIRACY™;
another stated, "DEFENDANTS SCORE AGAIN IN TRIAL OF GREAT LIQUOR PLOT™, This

annoyed me because it was untrue. The so-called defendants score could have

referred to nothing more than the fact that all of the defendants were not found
equally guilty, in other words, that some of them were found, then or later, quilty
of a lesser charge than conspiracy. But as far as the chief defendants were
concerned, Bert Morrison included, smd it hadsgle been proved that he was the
"land agent" of the Comsolidated Exporters Corporation of Vancouver, British
Columbia and that he had operated between Belize, British Honduars and various
points in the United States as the arranger for the carrying into shore from ships
at sea, the liquor and also arrangements with the lower class of persons who took
charge of the landing of the liquor and the disposing of it thereafter - EQEE

Morrison, I say, recéived a maximum sentence as did all of the other chief defendants.
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In a business such as mine has been, details and accuracy in details is-an—
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extremely important feature: Therefore, I, unfortunately, too often ‘expressed

accuracy in others and after this important case was ended and I returned to
Washington and newspaper clippings appeared from here and there over the country,
1 was somewhat annoyed to observe that in this New Orleans case the defendants were

variously twenty-three in number of perhaps twenty-five, even twenty-seven;
)
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that the number of attorﬁ;es_who had jumped to their feet and demanded that the
judge rule out my testimony as a matter of opinion were seven, but other news items
stated there were nine, These and other slight details are doubtless quite un-
important and certainly had no fffect on the outcome of the case. The news item,
however, which really annoyed ﬁe were those appearing in the ATLANTA JOURNAL from
May 3rd to the 6th, 1933 because of the headlines attached to them. One headline
read, "NEW ORLEANS COURT FREES EIGHT OF TWENTY-FIVE TRIED FOR RUM CONSPIRACY";

another stated, "DEFENDANTS SCORE AGAIN IN TRIAL OF GREAT LIQUOR PLOT". This-{;:
1| vannoyed me because it was untrue. The so-called defendants score could have

)
| /referred to nothing more than the fact that all of the defendants were not found
f

| equally guilty, in other words, that some of them were found, then or later, Quilty
| of a lesser charge than conspiracy, But as far as the chief defendants were
concerned, Bert Morrison included, asel it hadm®t been proved that he was the
"land agent" of the Consolidated Exporters Corporation of Vancouver, British
Columbia and that he had operated between Belize, British Honduars and various

points in the United States as the arranger for the carrying’&nto shore from ships
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at sea, the liquor and also arrangements with the lowe® class of persons who took

charge of the landing of the liquor and the disposing of it thereafter - Burt
K N { A
Morrison, I say, receéived a maximum sentence as=did all of the other chief defendants..
- .
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The following year in the same month of May, that is May 1934, another
trial was opened in New Orleans. This was a kind of postscript to the conspiracy
case of the twentysome & defendants the year before. Loose ends left over from
the previous ﬁi;; Morrison, et al, conspiracy were brought to trial and a fair
number of persons, at this time fourteen ( but some news items said eleven) were

o t\fh‘f- MG )\
bmoagh&Lte:t:ial in New Orleans. The indictment in this case claimed that this

particular conspiracy had begun in the early part of 1931 and had continued
bha, k"
through the early part of the year 1934, The reader will recall “g& the vesy
A
beginning of 193%*»had seen the ratification by the final state which meant the
Lo AMUARL 5.4

passage of the Prohibition era., Therefore, tﬁi;;éasé was aﬁofﬁer loose end being
picked up for prosecution by the Federal Government. The TIMES PICAYUNE of New
Orleans stated that fifty witnesses were calded for the case and mentioned my
appearance among them,stating that I had appeared in New Orleans before as an
expert witness for the governemnt,

Here again, news items related that the defense attorﬁy s, this time lefid by
an extremely important 88f8€f attorney in New Orleans nameq,,Edwin H. Grace,
had attacked my testimony and in one case had demanded of me why certain DRARES
blanks appeared in my translation of the messages. The news items stated that
I had replied, "I may be an expert on secret writings, but I an not an expert
on names of liquors'"., Defense Attorney Grace had pursued the subject by demanding
why the cipher word for alcohol could not just as easily mean bananas or coconuts.
The news item goes on, "Mrs, Friedman replied, that once any particular cipher system
is worked out, no doubt can be entertained as to any single word appearing in a
sentence, You can get ang other expert in the Unitethtates, said Mrs, Friedman,

ave

and he would translate these messages precisely as I/done@r1t is not a matter of
r

opinion but a matter of science."
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Another New Orleans paper as well as the one quoted above reported that
considerable amusement had been afforded to the persons present in the court
toom when I had read the deciph t of a certain message which had stated (j\

M% AS. Aed \

"Suggest you give Grace case", Of course, the case referred to meant the action
of this attorney as defense council for the accused, however, all present includingcﬂ '
the judge,smiled because of the implication that the word CASE referred to a case QZ%
of liquor. This was my last visit to New Orleans to appear as a government ﬂﬁfli
expert witness, Times were c:q:f now that the Volstead Act had been repealed
along with the nineteenth amendment and from henceforward, there were too many

activities occupying the attention of law enforeement bureaus of the Treasury
afford

OESRMARAMNE Department to @R time to try all..[END Tape #14)

3
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Tape #14
Continue B, Morrison Case
New Orleans 1933

The press clippings which I have concerning that case, I think thas. I have
already mentioned to some extent, kp:mtly numerous press people were present
during my testimony because all over the country news articles appeared in which
it was stated that I had been cross-examined by the defense attornies and the

number of defense attornies differed widely in the varying accounts. The ATLANTA

JOURNAL of May 3rd, 1933, stated, " Seven defense attornies jumped to their feet

and protested in behalf of the twenty-five defendants on trial, that Mrs. Friodnsn'

ELQ.. "

translation was a matter of personal opinion. Judge Charles B. Kennamer ruled that
J
she was an expert at a science and permitted her to testify., Mrs. Friedman trunslatcd¢ ‘

one message as reading: 'CUT OF OLD COLONEL IN PINTS'. Another she said, ordered

UL

transfer of the liquor cargo from one ship to another on the high seas.”

A New Orleans paper of May 15th, 1934 stated as follows:

oot
]
V K.

"Testimony of Mrs, Elizabeth S. Friedman, Chief Cryptmalysiﬂ' Treasury

Department, Washington, who decoded wireless messages, said during the alledged iﬁ |

conspiracy, was the high point of yesterdays session. 'Q
Asked why certain "blanks" appeared in her translation of the code messages, k t«i -

Mrs, Friedman replied that, 'I may be an expert on secret writing, but I am not i
an expert on names of liquors. Those blanks concerned cargoes of various types ] j
of liquor," of \ 4

HEADLINE: "CLASS IN CRYPTOLOGY. Mrs. Friedman at the instance of the '_ \q
government attorney, Norman, conducted a class in solving code messages illustratinéj ~ 1
to the jury with a blaciboard how experts translate into plain language the most \g( “‘j;:
Lcolplex of code and cipher.| Asked by the defense attorney, Edwin H. Grace, if the _(: | i\/‘

cipher word for alcohol could just just as easily mean bananas or coconuts, Mrs,

Friedman replied that, once any particular cipher system is worked out, no doubt .é

\ 5
can be entertained as to any single word appearing in a sentence, : :
= ~ e o e n : L) f
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Yo canlgj; any other expert in the Unlted States,said MFS ., Frledman //ﬂfﬁ

woulg/transglate thése messages precisely as I have done, it is not a matter of
inion; but a-matter of science. One message concerning a cargo of liquor
translated by Mrs. Friedman concluded with the words, 'suggest give Grace case',
Edwin H, Grace, tE?W1th Robert B. Todd in defending the men, maintained after
yesterdays session, that the message referred to the case being tried in court,
although attaches of the court, the jury and others who smiled when the PasSSagLymr

was read apparently took it to mean something else."

I recall very well the conduct of the @8@88 class, as it was referred to in

g\
9

the foregoing news item, The defense attornro&lhad more or less naggingly continued
questioning for sometime trying to trick me in one way or another and one of the
things that they hit upon was to state that the names of liquors, which I had used

in the decipherment of the messages,were not produced. It—appeared-by. the same,
mgthoﬂ-us-the—génefﬁf‘bﬁﬁy=vfmeene. I sought an opportunity here to silence the
cross-examination in a decisive manner., I turned to the judge and said: r%mr
fﬁbnor, is there a blackboard available to the court":n The judge spike to the

marshal and the defense attorney directed the marshal to bring in a blackboard.

I was very @fe qulckly able to demonstrate the valldlty of the cipher method whlch
had been used féixéﬁé naﬁesro;‘ilquors &nﬁmaaywof‘thﬁﬂnsssagoe because thagdm;thod J;

wasﬁgimple mono-alphabetic encipherment. For example: THE OLD COLONEL has three
el's and three o's., I put the words OLD COLONEL on the BEAGRABSE blackboard in
caps and placed beneath the letters their cipher equivalents, thus the three o's
were shown in each case to be the identical cipher letter and the three el's
likewise, E, the most frequently appearing letter in English and therefore is
usually represented by the letter which appears most often in a frequency't;gle
of any mono-alphabetic cipher, was present here only once but there were tther

names of brands which of course contained one or more appearances of the letter E

and by quickly looking through the sheets of paper before me from which I had
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testified, my eye was able to catch quickly brand names which contained more than

one occurrance of the letter E and also the word alcohol with fl's and o's which

when put upon the blackboard revealed the same cipher letters as had been used for
7~ .{J{c B~

the g1's and o's of the OLD COLONEL which already had been placed -on—the-blaekboard.
= ) ik that

By this time the defense attome?fs were nervously indicating wemy they had had
enough of this black and white proof, that is, the blackboard ;:;::i!ﬁ!l!!lt&l!#
This demonstration in the court room by a blackboard seemed to set the press
on fire. While I pursued my business quietly in New Orleans, bothzgggg and long
articles were appearing in the press all over the country. Although T had not
spoken with any reporters and in fact could not have distinguished reporters in the
court room from any of the general public, apparently they were ther%;because
photographs of me and articles, short and long, appeared here@ and there and every-
where, Atrhﬁﬁ§ﬁfiq3%é§£%éréaﬁé_Bf the items in-the New Orleans papers while T was
.in that city.
This was a conspiracy case., I had been told throughout my work in this field
for the government by the legal associates with whom I had worked, that the charge
of conspiracz,whatever the background or specific conspiracy is, is by far the most

difficult of charges to prove., Therefore, I was not surprised to learn from the news-

paperg)én-thishcaagikl being excluded from the court room until I was called upon

.
&

to testify,whatever knowledgg I haq’did come from those either prosecuting or
observing the case, ﬂk I 22;&, I learned from the newspapers, for example {;Fﬁﬁgz,
New Orleans éfff of May 2nd, 1933:

"The conspiracy case against the twenty-five defendants was made at a cost
of about five hundred thousand dollars to the government, it was learned todg;,and
took more than a year to make. The charge is, that the ring leaders, Bﬁ;t Morrison

and - - Goldburg, and the H'Neil Brothers, Joseph Merchant employing the

other defendants, operated a syndicate which owned a fleet of rum ships, hundreds of
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trucks and several wireless stations and shipped millions of dollars of liquor
through New Orleans and this vicinity to the middle West and Bast "

The same article mentioned me as the star w1tness, "of the so called million
XA o =N P e ' <0 AALANLMA 2 VI W,

e
dollar rum conspiracyt\ er repor:ed at_the tlme L had been—sworn-yﬂw ]
) WAT Lo iAW ) A ¢ .,‘(.'; b AL
d-was sittin tness " b ? i ok -
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"9even—atfbrn1%L for the twenty-flve de%éndants in the conspiracy case a:e

destlnsd.to Mrs. Friedman's testimony on the grounds that her translation of thg’/,f

—

mesiEEEEFEEE_g_mgngxmn£aporsona1 opinion, But Judge Kennamer held with her that
she was an expert-at—a science," (Italic )

This same observation was reported in other newspapers, as for example, the
follwwing day in the ATLANTA JOURNAL, which also quoted the instance of the reading
of one message OUT OF OLD COLONEL IN PINTS - the message which had 1ea%£§o thez/

o L
blackboard demonstration $heretofore described. Truth of the importang Bﬁgg
Morrison case is brought forth accurately in the following quotation from a letter
addressed to the Secretary of the Treasury from Amos W. Woodcock, the celebrated
lawyer who himself lead the governmenfg case against the smugglers organization,

I quote,
to

"I am taking the liberty @€ bring to your attention the unusual service
rendered by Mrs, Elizabeth Smith Friedman in the trial of the largest smuggling case
which thelgpreau of Prohibition has made during the last two yearsS I prosecuted
the case iﬁ the Unitéd States District Court at New Orleans.

"Mrs. Friedman was summoned as an expert witness to testify as to the megsning
of certain intercepted radio code messages. These messages were sent to and from
Belize, Honduras, New Orleans, and ships at sea. Without their translations, I do
not believe that this very important case could have been won.

" Mrs. Friedman made an unusual impression upon the jury. Her descriptions

of the art of deciphering and decoding established in the minds of all her entire

competency to testify, It would have been a misfortune of the first magnitude in
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the prosecution of this case not to have ﬁad a witness of Mrs. Friedman's
qualifications and personality available," END-LETEER—

The case is referred to at some length in a memorandum from the intelligence
officer at Coast Guard Headquarters to the Commandant of the Coast Guard. There
are stated here truthfully and forthrightly, not only the matter of my appearance
in the foregoing important case, but also the importance of the Coast Guard
Cryptanalytie Section as the only agency with its purpose in the entire government
outside the Army and Navy.

"There is attached hereto for your information a letter of appreciation
from Colonel A, W. Woodcock, former Director of Prohibition, to the Secretary
of the Treasury, highly commending the work of the Cryptanalysis Section at
Headquarters in general and the work of Mrs, Friedman, Cryptanalyst in Charge,
in particular . . .

' The Consolidated Exporters Company is by far the largest and most
powerful international smuggling syndicate in existence, controlling practically
a monopoly of smuggling in the Gulf of Mexico and on the West Coast. More than
two years ago Special Agents of prohibition raided the headquarters of the
syndicate in New Orleans and began an investigation of the smuggling activities
of this syndicate of nearly two years duration at a cost to the government of
several hundred thousand dollars. More than one hundred persons were indicted,
including'Bert Morrison and the ring leaders of the agency of the Consolidated
Exporters Company, the headquarters of which were in New Orleans, from where
smuggling activities were directed throughout the Gulf, The case against the
ring leaders of the syndicate was a criminal one, the charge being conspiracy,
and it was absolutely essential to connect these ring leaders with the actual
operations of the smuggling vessels, There was only one way in which this could
be done and that was through radio messages in code and ciphers originating in
the office and illicit radio station of the Consolidated Exporters Company's

agents in New Orleans, which show that the defendants actually directed the

movements of the smuggling vessels.
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W
Hundreds of radio messages in code and cipher between the rum running

vessels and shore stations had been intercepted by the Coast Guard Intelligence
Office in Mobile and many more were seized by the Special Agents when they raided
the headquarters of the syndicate in New Opleans. All of these messages were
forwarded to Headquarters where they were{d&ciphered;féecoded andﬁ%fstematized;ﬂf
by the Cryptanalysis Section., When the United States Attorney went before.the
Grand Jury for an indictment, Mrs. Friedman was sent from Headquarters as a
witness, and when the case came to trial a few months ago, Mrs., Friedman again
went to New Orleans as a witness for the prosecution, and, as it developed, the
star witness, It is unnecessary to elaborate on Colonel Woodcock's statement
that without the work of the Coast Guard Cryptanalysis Section and Mrs. Friedman's
expert testimony, he does not believe that this very important case would have
been won, I neglected to state that the case was of such importance that Colonel
Woodcock, former Director of Prohibition, was sent to New Orleans as Special
Assistant to the Attorney General to prosecute the case in person,

\ It is an interesting commentary on this phase of law enforcement that the
Coast Guard is the only agency of the Government connected with law enforcement
which has such an extremely valuable section., The Department of Justice has no
such section ., . .

The Bureau of Narcotics and the Bureau of Customs, Department of Justice,
and other agencies of the Government, frequently send codes and ciphers to this
office for solution, ﬁhich was one of the aims when the unit was established --
that of making the Coast Guard known as the law enforcement agency of the
Governgment, in control of radio intelligence and cryptanalysis,

The letter of Colonel Woodcock to the Secretary of the Treasury indicated
that this aim is being gradually achieved,

%

V' It is suggested that the attached letter be filed with Mrs, Friedman's

record in the Chief Clerk's Office. "

LA
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Another New Orleans pﬁper as well ,as the one quoted above reported that
-~ //
cons1derab1e amusemgnt Had been affoyd/e to the pefSons pre:Z?x in tbe court}
Lo X:;!Bo when I hagfrgeﬂ the dec1pherm¢ﬁt of a certain message which hﬁd stated

/
"Spggest y glve-Grace case", Of course: the case referred tofmeant\&hs actlon
¢ th

th1§/attorney as defense counc11 for the accused however a11 present 1nc1ud1ng

\
'

/ he/dudge)sm11eg,because of the implication that the word CASE referred to a case

eoffllquor. This was my last visit to New Orleans to appear as a government
changing,

expert witness, Times were chaﬁgag, now that the Volstead Act had been repealed

tr*tly\

along with the ntﬁcteenxh Amendment and ftsﬁfﬁenceforwar%* there were too many

activities occupying the attention of law enforeement bureaus of the Treasury,
afford < a.re A A, ' .

w Department to &@E#® time to. ‘I‘a.pe*#—.!:ﬁ-;._
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It has been related elsewhere that I had been sent to Houston,
Texas in 1928 to solve some messages which the District Attorney
there had subpoenaed from Western Union and which was expected to
produce evidence of value against defendants in the llquor smuggling
business whi had been indicted in the_Southern }1strict of Texas,

I have related that a pile of messages had been subpoenaed from

andd W a a

Western Union which was the size of a small trun@ﬂ B@6ga8 Amoug these

messages whigh I had sorted, clﬁ?sified and solved over a period of

a month or more in Houston,iiiiadgpgiurned to Washington, and Whenever
thereafter the District Attorney' saén éhat district believed that
cipher messages from which they obtained evidence and leads were of
the water tight nature whichcould be used 1n court against any
defendant, I was again summoned to Texas.( I appeared in nmere-—then-
one case there ,{p June of 1930 i~wes requested by the United States
District Attorney of thekgouthern_Bhstrict of Texas to appear in (?a
courtwvhich was to be held in Galveston for the trial of three men
who were charged with@not only conspiracy but the actual operation
of smuggling of liquor from Belize, British Hondurag,to the Texas
coast, I arrived in Galveston about th on a Monday morningj; the
Assistant United States Attorney met ﬁe at the railroad station and
we went directly to the courtroom. Judge J. C. Hutcheson was already
on the bench and the clerk of the court was %ﬁ;ng through the roster
of cases which would be heard. éﬁ:n I,~si¢¢ing in the back of the
courtroom ‘/Y&T,i'bh Malcolm McCorquodale, the young ﬁ-ssistant District

A ttorney;i%aard the names of thess defendants, "Frenchydﬂrnautou,
Joe laRosa and John Ratliffe known as "Little Business"/ when these
names I—say were'heagézoff by the clerk of the court, the young

L
District Attorney nudged me and said: this 1s the case in which you
]
appear., '
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o It has been related elspwhere that 1 had been sent to fHouston,

Texae in 1928 to solve some messages wanich the District Attorney

there had subpoensed from Jestern Union and which was expected to

produce evidence of value against defendants in the llquor smugglling

business whés had been ;Edigted in the southern district of Tex=as,
I have related that a ;&:5 eSSagesjgfé'dgfn subpoenzed from

festern Union which't‘P small trunk. @&86gn Among these
messages which I had sorted, classified znd solved over a period of

a month or more in Houston, I had returned to Yashington and whenever
thereafter the District Lttorney's in that district believed that
cipher messages from which they obtalned evldence and leads were of
the w=ter tight nature whlcdrould be used in court against any
defendant, I was again summoned to Texss, I appeared in more than
one case there.?q%;'Juna of 1930, I was requested by the United dtztes
District ‘ttorney of the southern district of Texas to appear in
court which was to be held in Galveston for the trial of three men
who were charged with@not only conspiracy but the actuzl operztion
of smuggling of ligquor from Belize, Britlish Honduras to the Texas
const, I arrived in Galveston about 9am on a lMonday morning, the
Asgistant United States Attorney met me at the railrozd station and
we went diregfly-to the courtroom. Judge J. C. Hutcheson was already
on the bench and the clerk of the court was golng through the roster
of cases which would be heard, When I, sitting in the back of the
courtroom with Malcolm MeCorquodale, the young assistant District

A ttorney, heard the names of tuese defendants, "Prenchy Arnzutou,
Joe LnRosz and John Ratliffe known as "Little Business", when these
names I say were heard off by the clerk of the court, the young

)
District ﬁttorney nudged me and said, %his is the cacse in which you
annear.‘l



| / ~20)

Judge Hutcheson, as is customary, requested the attorney or attorneys
for these defendants to arise., I looked tgward the hE§f1 of the court=-
room to take a look at the defense counﬁti whom I would face when on
the sta?d. To my astonishment, to put 1§Apildly as possible, I saw
stand‘ugwand turning to face the Judge, thus giving me a quite clear
look 2t the profile of this person, #=s a very buxom young woman,
highly colored as to complei}ion with flashing black eyes and hair,
ang,horror of horrors, shifting a wad of gum from one side of her
mouth to the other aﬁﬂ she addressed the Judge, acknowledgling that

"who

she represented the defense, I whispered to Mr., McCorquodale,
in the world is that?" He smiled, and replied amé—ses¥d, 'there is
quite a story here, I will tell you when there is a court intermission".

There was a court intermission declared by the Judge at the end

-

of the recital of cases and after Judge Hutcheson knew what was aea
him in this session of court»in the Ebuthern Fistrict of Texasg I
could hardly wait to hear the story of the woman attorney. Her name,
it appeared, was Sadie Bevalacqua, a local girl of Itallan parentage
who had grown up and been aducated 2% briefly es~possible in the
Galveston school, At this late date, I cannot recall whether or not
she was a high school graduate but if so, that had been the end of
her education. She had married one of the local characters whose
business had beeﬁ that so common in Galveston during the Prohibition
era, His friends had been the characters whose namesShad now been
gppearing for sggijear§ as defendants®n trials for felony, conspiracy

ﬁanddihe iike, ;Whether the man Sadle married actually was a smuggler

| himself, I do not recall but certainly the assoc?ates_with whom he
and his buxom young wife, Sadie, comported theﬁéal?és had beeh‘of the

1

above mentioned class,.
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-——;/ There had come a time when Sadie's husband felt that he had made
enough money that he would take his beautiful young wife to his
homeland, Italy, which he did. When they returned to the United
States, our immigration service had not permitted Sadie's husband

to re-enter the country and he had been sent back to his homelanq/
PP
never to return, The young wife, however, having been bornh§merica¢r”

/

was found to have a gquite-in-order passport hence she wafl admitted v
amd - -returned to Galveston, her native city. Whether her motive for

~ entering upon law practi&e was the need of money or simply her attempt
to show her friendship Tor the former associates of her husband and
herself, I do not know., But the truth tp“that Sadie Bevalacqua

presented herself to the elderly bearded group@of men who cogstituted

-
=

the Texas Board of Etrn Examiners ﬁn th@ﬁfperiod whsn 1t was totally |

unnecessary and definitely not required by law for a person to have .
F

gone to any type of law school or college &nd 1ndeed~§£d not even
passed an apprenticeship in a practicing lawyers office - 1t was

entirely up to the state ggard of ;kaminers, who 1f they were pleased!ﬁ%
by the applicant who appeared before them for oral examination alone,

would deny or grant a license to practice law, I perhaps am cynical,
L" AN G T
but I b ievad»from this story that Sadle's appearance and her vocal

LN/
. affluence, her pertinanaa in verbal attack and the like, had pleased
b 't'{f[ ,' AL
the Texas %oard of Bar Bxaminers, &%&—e@Aﬂmﬂ&4ﬁﬂ%»ﬂMﬁn of eﬁarse, 3

3{!}" N YH2AA fa 8 4 I/J'l-

L
ﬁ?d Bq&pad launched upon her practice af‘defending trete Whahtlﬂf1¢(4 /

~ would have ‘called underworld charactersyq lof course, the ProhibitiontéK i
- — —
T3 ,era took thousands of people into 1llicit operations who would >

( de:initely would not have been underworld characters 3£ 1t hadizot beenf:

L~
25
L

for\the unpopular| feeling generaly held against the law, the Va stead

Acte
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There was considerable argument in the Galveston courtroom when
the United States Attorney, M. H. Holden, wished to introduce the
telegrams passing between Belize, Galveston and New Orleans which Mr.
Holden maintaine%x in part were proof of the conspiracy charge: anf
argument which was continued into the second day, Judge Hutcheson
having @@@@maintained that a "connection" between the persons named
in the telegrams and the defendants must be shown, Finally, however,
he agreed to permit the cipher telegrams to be introduced. I recall
as I was sworn in and took my place in the witness chair, I observed
the jury. I was convinced that they had neither the educatlon or the
native intelligence to understand the significance of the messages
about which I was to testify. In fact, I recall observing them care-
fully while I sat in that chair waiting for some discussion (haggling,

I personally should have called it), between t United States District

e ‘;|_“’J\i 4 Waa.c O

Attorneyf;the defense coun,&i gga the Judggﬂ final ruling that I would
be heard. I remember thinking as I observed the Jury during this
period that they were probably persons as 1s all too often seen on
Juries who would decide a case on the color of a necktiex that someone

or
such, as one of the defendantsawore or whether or not the Jury liked h#e-

)
Yy . 5" '.‘:J |
qappearance or felt that he had a raw deal in some minor detail of the
was
conduct of the case, or some other irrelevant point. However, I/de-

)

termined, if possible, to make an impression upon them , Therefore, I

was very careful to speak in monosyllablc words wherever—possible to
technical
omit the mention of all €cBEREEEd

terms,and to keep my tesilmoney

to the bare essentials which I felt would be comprehensible to such

s b [
a ur ® ' '_ po V4 - A
At the end of my testimony, Sadie Bevalacqua, of course, cross-

examingﬁ. The word which had been used in these telegrams concerning

purchase and shipment of liquor in cases was the simple code word
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"coconut!. The remainder of the messages had been in a more or less

A
simple E}EEE? system. I recall that Sadie Bevalacqua had asked me
concerning a message which had stated, "advising can't send more than
10,000 coconuts", from the M;ihado Brothers in Belize to an alias of
one of the defendants. Mrs. Bevalacqua, in her cross-examination,

asked me, "1f I knew whether M;Tnado and Son raised coconuts. I smiled,

and said, "no, of course I did not know"., The smile ﬁeing caused, of

' ',
f/ -

course, by the fact that the ﬂplhado Brothers were, knOWn tobe in the
ligquor business andthe largest importers and exporters to llquor
smugglers of any place in the North American Hemisphere, on&eﬁde of
Vancouver, British{Colunbia. My-general knowledge, however,.was not
fiﬁdnﬁjto be brougnt fertg eé me voluntarily, and so I kept silent.
Then Mrs. Bevalacqua said to Judge Hutcheson, shifting the ever

present wad of gum from one side,of her mouth to the other as she talked,

'."1 A

"But your honor, this 'code' and , cipher" I do not understand " Whereupon
Zctelt Loaf

the judgehrurned to me.uithoutfthe defense coune&l geing furtheq.tmtﬁi

her non-understanding-and directed me in a commanding voice, "please

]

1o S oAb FUMA ¢

Here was my chance I instinctively set forth on a period of verbal

0 |

se @
harassment of the defense couneil, having been so gentle and so

explain",

careful in my handling of the jury. I thereupon, after the judgee

command, launched into an explanation of the terms code and clpher

which I LOADED with as many technical terms as possible and made as

complicated as possiblegand-sat ﬂirectly addressing Mrs. Bevalacque/

hardly able to conceal my amusement as I saw her)like a drowning sailor)
sinking underneath my barrage of polysyllabic phraseology. ©Sadle

Bevalacqua struggled to her feet after about three minutes of my dis-

course and said, "I object". This statemenp on her part brought some
= LA
laughter in the courtroom,..for an attorney tqkebject to thke explanation

which the attorney herself ha@ demanded, However, Judge Hutcheson was
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not amused, He pounded his gavel to silence the courtroom and

directed his then very vocal comﬁand@ to Sad e Bevalacgua herself .
=1 M hlkd’.-‘{‘, () SCouu Ml Xy

e OS MGGl A AN Q.
sayinqa "You asked for this explana?%on now you're going to listen u57}
to 1t." Then turning to ﬁe»he iaéd: Proeied", which, of course, I >
did with ondymsldg 1esse%f>enjoyﬁen;}dﬁrthz experience., :%
The outcome of this particular case was gg@ to the satisfaction of %f

-
the United States Attorney’%. Judge Hutcheson instructed the Jjury that

there had been no proper connection traced between the cipher telegrams
and the defendants. This, however, did not invalidate my testimony

but simply proved that the District Attorney's office had not produced
sufficient evidnece to show that the aliases used in the telegrams were
really those belonging to the three defendants.

However, this case was immediately succeeded by another where a
considerably largerdnﬁ?ber of defendants were tried. In these Galveston
cases, as elsewhe;e as had Sadle Bevalacqua 1in the case Jjust described,

m-always challenged\gulfegzzggggﬁas eﬁdagéer of opinion, Judge
Hutcheson, of course, did not agree with thie,u-t.as in all other
cases Wherever they were,vﬁhe defense couﬁéil had raised such an
objection. Sadie was algo overrule?LC 't{
<SAD A MO ¢

Judge Hutcheson Washdater appointed to the United States Court of
Appeals in New Orleans, Loulsiana where, so far as I know, he remains
to this day., I had been told by the young assistant U. S. Attorney in
Galveston when he related to me Sadie Bevalacqua's background story,
that Judge Hutcheson was an extremely scholarly man and that #he,

Judge Hutcheson actually sqffered when he had to hear cases where sueh-

g et SR S VO—
defense counntl as eegde apneared.: Perhaps it was this feeling on

his part wﬁich had moved him to command me to make t2? plgnation
Q&M
which I had made on the witness stand, and also to silence When

she attempted to object to my answer to her own question.‘”g?ars later,

Ay
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I,_hyn—&e%i:&em?mw- Judge Hutcheson -s¥bbeng—on—a.divan in the
Mayflower Hotel in Washington. I went up to him and greeted Rim
explaining who I was and when I had first met him, and recalled the
circumstance of my period of fun at Sadile Bevalacqua's expense,

Judge Hutcheson then related to me that Sadie had a year or two before
been presented to the Supreme@® Court of the United States for license
to praqtice before thé};;st august law body in this country, and

had been granted this privilege. ©She had been a successful practlcing
attorney in and around Galveston for some years, although the liguor
smuggling days were over., But theﬁ?dﬁﬁm as elsewhere, those
who hed leanred the ways of the easy money in the liguor smuggling
game ,doubtless continued 1n allied branches Whig%;%}forded @8 easy

money gains. At any rate, Sadle Bevalacqua had not lacked clients.
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